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HEARIlyG ON THE IMPORTANCE OF LITERACY ,

Tuesday, September 26, 2000

U.S. House of Representatives,

Committee on Education and the Workforce,

Washington, D.C.

. The Committee met, pursuant to notice, at 9:30 am., in Room 2175, Rayburn
House Office Building, Hon. Bill Good ling [Chairman of the Committee], presiding.

Present: Representatives Goodling, Roukema, Schaffer, Hilleary, Ehlers,
Fletcher, Isakson, Kildee, Owens, Payne, Scott,.Hinojosa, McCarthy, Kind, Sanchez,
Kucinich, Wu, and Holt.

Staff present: Linda Castleman, Office Manager; Dan Lara, Press Secretary;
Sally Lovejoy, Education Policy Coordinator;13,atrick Lyden, Professional StafFMember;
Lynn.Selmser, Professional Staff Member; Jo-Marie St. Martin, General Counsel; Bob
Sweet, Professional Staff Member; Kent Talbert, Education Policy Counsel; Kevin
Talley, Chief of Staff; and Holli Traud, Legislative Assistant. ,

OPENING STATEMENT OF CHAIRMAN BILL GOODLING, COMMITTEE ON
EDUCATION AND THE WORKFORCE, U.S. HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
WASHINGTON, DC

Chairman Goodling. The Committee on Education and the Workforce will come to
order.

I want to start promptly because I understand We have one vote, possibly, at
10:00, and then who knows when the next one will be, so we will be running out
interrupting you in the middle of your sentences.

We are holding this hearing today to hear testimony on the importance of literacy,
and I am eager to hear from our witnesses today, so I am going to limit the opening
statements to myself and, I suppose, Mr. Kildee. If any other members have statements,
the will be included in the hearing record. If anybody has anyone they want to introduce,
just let me know.

I am happy to have this hearing. There are many things, which can destroy us....
internally, and most great civilizations fall from within. However, I think that functional
illiteracy and illiteracy in the 21st century could certainly destroy any hope for us to
continue to be an outstanding leader in this world.

(1)
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We now have as many as 100 million adults in this country who are functioning
either on level 1 or level 2 as far as the literacy scale is concerned. Level 1, in my
estimation, there is no hope of getting a piece of the American dream in the 21st century
and level 2 it will be very difficult.

Things have not changed that much. When I graduated from a one-room, eight-
grade school, only two of us went on to ninth grade and high school. The otherswent to
work. Of course, most people could get a job, keep a job, and support a family and,
above all, they did not want anyone to believe that they could not read. And that has
gone forever. That will not work today.

Therefore, if we are going to continue to be a leader, we are going to have to have
a well educated and a well-trained workforce. I have worked to ensure that a wide range
of federal education programs address problems related to illiteracy, including Even Start
Family Literacy Program, the Adult Education and Family Literacy Act, the Reading
Excellence Act, Title I and Head Start and several of our witnesses today will testify to
the merits of these programs.

It is, however, no secret that I believe literacy programs that involve the whole
family, such as Even Start, provide the best possible solution to our problem. I do not
know it took us so long to understand that if you do not deal with the entire family you do
not break the cycle. We must have been asleep somewhere, I am not sure.

Parents are the key to a child's academic success and it is our hope, ofcourse, to
make sure that the parent is the first and most important teacher the child will ever have.

We must also ensure that we have qualified teachers in the classroom who have
been trained to teach reading using instructional programs based on scientifically based
reading research. We have gotten into an awful lot of trouble with different fads at
different times that are kind of typical education.

In the 105th Congress, we enacted the Reading Excellence Act and we hope with
the passing of that we will make sure that we have the best research. We also included
this particular year in the Lift bill additional money for research for adult literacy because
we do have a good bit of research in relationship to how children learn to read, but we do
not have enough research at the present time on how adults learn to read.

Having said all that, I will now recognize the gentleman who has worked with us
constantly on these programs from Michigan, Congressman Kildee.

WRITTEN OPENING STATEMENT OF CHAIRMAN BILL GOODLING,
COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION AND THE WORKFORCE, U.S. HOUSE OF
REPRESENTATIVES, WASHINGTON, DCSEE APPENDIX A

Mr. Kildee. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I will be brief also. I want to hear the witnesses
here.

Your commitment to literacy has been at least 26 years here in the Congress and
many years prior to that before you came here to the Congress and I have enjoyed
working with you for 24 years on that.
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I can recall; too, you mentioned people leaving the eighth grade and going to

work, I Can tecall in Flint Michigan Where One could quit school on Tuesday, quit high :

school, and go to work foiBuick Motor Car Company on Wednesday. And years'ago,

about 15 j,ears ago we were retraining our workers and found out that many of them

needed more than retraining, many actually were functionally illiterate. .

So those days are gone forever. You canned quit school on a Tuesday and go to

work for GeneratMotors on a Wednesday. There is really a need for literacy, just to read

the manuals that are necessary for that type of work.

I have always believe, and it is kind of a cliche, but I think much is contained in

that of truth, in kindergarten thiough third grade;one learns to read after that you read to
learn. And if you have not learned to read by the end of the third grade, you are going to

have very, very severe problems thereaftei.

So I commend those who are involved in literacy and I am anxious to hear the

witnesses this morning.

Thank you, Mr: Chairman.

Chairman Goodling. Is there anyone that wants to introduce any of the witnesses?

If not, then I will do it.

Dr. Langenberg is Chancellor of the University System of one ofthe greatest

institutions in the countri, of MarYland. -He sen*i, as chairman Of the Presidens'
Council of the Association of GovemingB5ardi of UnirsitieS and Colleges; the

National Reading Panel, is a nationally recopized leader in higher education issues,

particularly K through 16 education partnerships, and information technology.

He holds a Ph.D. from thellniversity of California-Berkeley and is the author or

co-author of over 100 papers.and articles.and has edited several books. .

President Jimmy Carter appointed DrLangenberg to serve as Deputy Director of

the National Science Foundation from 1980 to 1982. He was awarded the John Price

Weatherill Medal of the Franklin Institute and the Distinguished Contribution to
Research Administration Award of the Society of Research Administrators.

. . .

Ms. Linda Butler is a professional development specialist with the National Institute of.

Child Health and Human Development Early Intervention Project in Washington, D.C.

She is also an adjunct instructor of:graduate courses at Trinity College.

Prior to her current position, she was an educator in the District ofColumbia
Public Schools, holding various positions from 1988 to 1997. Ms. Butler has been an
education consultant in Chicago public schools for Educational Dimensions, Inc. and in

New York for Scholastic, Inc: z ,
-

Ms.'Butler earned a Master of,Education in reading from,Howard University and

is currently pursuing a Doctor of Education in special education.
,
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Dr. Carmelita Williams is president of the International Reading Association and
a professor in the Department of Early Childhood Education in the School of Education
at Norfolk State University. She has been director of the Reading Partners Clinic for
Children in grades K through five and a reading and classroom teacher in public schools
in New York and Missouri.

Mrs. Pam Barret is a first grade-reading teacher at Tovashal Elementary School in
Murietta, California and has been successfully teaching reading for over 20 years. She is
the National Right to Read Foundation Teacher of the Year and has received
commendations from Governor Gray Davis (D-California) as well as Barbara Bush.

Ms. Jacqueline Martino is a teacher with the York Even Start Program. She is
also a teacher and youth coordinator with the Crispus Attucks Association and a minority
affairs advisor at York College of Pennsylvania. She holds a Bachelor of Science degree
from South Carolina University in psychology.

Mr. Enrique Ramirez is a former adult education student. He first recognized his
need to learn to read and write in 1986. He works for United Airlines as an airfreight
operation controller, where he is responsible for handling all the freight that comes into
or goes out from San Francisco International Airport. He has worked for United since
1989, but has just recently been promoted to his current position.

Dr. Langenberg.

STATEMENT OF DR. DONALD N. LANGENBERG, CHANCELLOR,
UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF MARYLAND, ADELPHI, MARYLAND.

Mr. Langenberg. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and good morning to you and all the
members of the committee. I am Don Langenberg.

I was privileged to serve from 1998 to the 2000 as chairman of the National
Reading Panel, which was established by Congress. I would like to present to you a very
brief overview of some major points from our work.

You gave the panel four very specific tasks:

You asked us to assess the status of research-based knowledge, including the
effectiveness of various approaches to teaching children to read.

You asked us to report on its readiness for application in the classroom.

You asked us to develop a strategy to disseminate our findings to make sure that
they did not sit simply on a few bookshelves here and there.

You asked us to recommend, if warranted, a plan for additional research.

The panel was made up of a diverse array of experts, professors whose research
areas cover the area of the teaching and learning of reading, schoolteachers, school
administrators, parents and grandparents, some of us did double duty in that respect, and

9
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me. And tsthuld sayi word abont me.

I ant a physicist; I am not an expert in this field. I was a little surprised to find
myself asked to chair the panel, but all'I can say is that 1 have been very active in the

-state of-Maryland in developing one of the nation's-leading K through 16 partnerships
which is based On-the premise that education is or should be a seamless web from K-16,
cradle to grave. Sometimes I say:postparturri tO postmortem.

And I think perhaps as a result of that and the result of the fact that for many years
I have practiced getting diverse groups of experts, faculty members together and to-try.to
lead them to a useful result. '

. The task that the Congress gave us was a formidable task. You asked us to assess
the research literature and within the field.of reading, .ve found something well over .
100,000 research reports published in that literature since 1966.

It-was clear that if we were going to respond in the time available to uS that we
had to make some choices: We made those choices on the,basis of the expertise of the
panel, consultation with'many educational associations and organizations and on the basis
of a series of regional hearings that we held all over the country to hear from shideats,
faculty members, teachers, school administrators, parents and political leaders.

. .

- The topics we picked in the end-to focus on were: Alphabetic which inCludei
phonemic awareness, awareness of the different sounds in the language, and phonics
instruction, how you connect thcisesounds to written letters and words. Also,-fluency,'
how one develops fluency-in readingand Comprehension, ineluding vocabulary.'
instruction, instruction in the coniprehension Cif full text arid how you Prepare-the
teachers with the skills necessary to develop the right strategies in students. The larger
topic of teacher education and reading instruction:,

tAnd then because we are all aware of the transfonnational'ehange in education
and just about everything else that is being created by the information technology
revolution, we took a look at what the literature had to say about the uses of computers
and information technology in teaching and learning reading.

Probably the most important thing' the panel did waito develop a rigorolls
methodological standard for the research that it looked at.' They are essentially the
standards normallS, used in medical and behavioral research for clinical trials to assess the
efficacy of behavioral interventions, medications or medical procedures.

Just a couple of highlights about what the pariel found..Tlie panel did find that "
certain instructional methods are demonstrably better than others and that manjr'of then\
are applicable now in the classroom.

There is, for exainple, overwhelniing evideace that systethatic, and I underline
,systematic, phonics instruction does enhance children's success in leainifig to read and
that such instruction is significantly more effective than instruction that teaChes little or
no phonics.

. .

I want to underline the word teaching here because one of the clear findings is
that systematic teaching is necessary. You do not absorb the ability to read by standing

1 Oi
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around in the middle of a library. This is a lesson, however, that is not fully appreciated
in any, every and all schools.

Second, we found that literacy instruction ought to begin early, in kindergarten,
preferably even before. We find that children at risk of reading failure for a variety of
reasons especially require direct and systematic instruction in these skills and that that
should be integrated fully with the full kindergarten experience.

Third, we conchided that all research in this subject worthy of use really must
stand up to critical scientific scrutiny. No reputable physician would normally prescribe
a treatment or a drug to a patient unless that treatment or drug had been fully tested in
rigorous scientific testing and we should expect no less of teachers subjecting a student to
curricular content or teaching methodology. Without a proven knowledge base, we can
expect our schools to continue to be besieged by education fads and nostrums.

And, finally, teachers are key. Teachers need to know how children learn to read,
how their brains work when they are learning to read. They need to understand why
children learn in different ways and why some children have difficulty in learning to read
and they need to know and to know how to apply different strategies and approaches for
different children. -

We did find that there are opportunities for additional research that ought to be
exploited. One of those has to do with the applications of information technology in the
classrooms. This is just in its infancy. I would remark that on the horizon, fairlynear
horizon perhaps, are instruments that in fact can translate written text into speech and
speech into written text. One would imagine that that would be useful in the classroom,
but we have very little information about exactly how that might work.

Let me conclude with just a couple of personal observations.

I am a physicist and I would assert that, one, I learned an enormous lot about this
very complex field in the course of chairing the panel. I came in as a non-expert, I came
out as a non-expert, but I am a little more knowledgeable non-expert now.

There is a recent report called "Teaching Reading is Rocket Science," and I want
\to say that in my opinion that is a gross underestimate. I am an experimental physicist, I
have done many things rather akin to rocket science, and I will tell you that the teaching
and the learning of reading are far more complex and far more difficult.

The knowledge base, our knowledge base, about the human brain and the mind
that it embodies is really quite rudimentary and so is our understanding of how to
translate that knowledge into effective teaching and learning.

I am reminded a little bit about the evolution of my own field in quantum physics
in the early part of the 20th century under people like Einstein, Bohr, Heisenberg,
Schroedinger and the like. That long, slow fitful evolution of basic knowledge exploded
in the second half of the century into the information technology revolution. And I very
much hope that in the 21st century something like that will occur in our knowledge of the
human mind and how it learns.

it
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Finally, let me say most of what I believe we learned about literacy, about
reading, in the work of the National Reading panel also applies to the learning of other
fiekls like math and science and I would very much-Underscore the need to keep that in
mind.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman: -

WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF DR. DOIsIALD N. LANGENBERG, CHANCELLOR,
UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF MARYLAND, ADELPHI, MARYLAND=SEE
APPENDIX B

.

Chairman Goodling. Thank you:

Ms. Butler? And I understand Ms. Brandon is going to share the stage with You.

STATEMENT OF MS. LINDA BUTLER, PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
SPECIALIST, NICHD EARLY INTERVENTIONS PROJECT, WASHINGTON,
D.C.; ACCOMPANIED BY MIKEA BRANDON, THIRD GRADE STUDENT,
SEATON ELEMENTARY SCHOOL, WASHINGTON, D.C.

'.f

Ms. Butler. Good morning. Good morning, committee. ,

First, I wisk te thank Mr. Goodling for the opportunity to speak to this committee. ,

I know firsthand, day to day, what a difference the investment Congress has made in our
ability to reach and teach children in the District of Columbia. Congress' support of
reading research and Congress' support of the Reading Excellence Act and the leadership
of key officials in government who support high quality teacher preparation are making a
significant difference in our schools today:

The National Institute Of 'Child Health and Human Development funds an
extensive research program to understand how our children learn to read and why some
of our children fail to learn hi read'and what can be done to prevent this-reading failure.

. . .

We have been working iiinine of the low performing schools for more than three
years under one of the NICHD grants. Dr. Barbara Foorrnan in Houston and Dr. Louisa
Moats in Washington, D.C. are the directors of,this program.,Dr. Moats and I work daily
to instruct and support leachers as we gather the extensive data that is needed on the
causes of reading success and reading failure.

This has been very hard work. In the beginning, teachers were very, very
frustrated, demoralized and skeptical. ,They blamed the children, their families, their
instructional materials and each other fo-r the fact that over 70 percent of ourfourth grade .
children in thVDistriet'scoied belic:v basic on the National Assessment of Educational
Progress, the NAE test.

We had to prove to these teachers that we were offering them something more
than superficial ideas, empty,promises or worthless gimmicks. Indeed, we had to .

persuade-teachers to learn a lot of new and sometimes challenging information and,to try
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out these new methods.

Over these four years, our teachers have risen to the occasion. More than half
have taken graduate courses with us and those who study and learn tend to get the best
results with their students. Many of our teachers have seen immediate and dramatic
improvement in their classes when they apply the research-based methods.

A very important focus of course work has been an in-depth study of phoneme
awareness, phonics and the structure of the English language. Another has been role-play
and rehearsal of new teaching strategies, including questioning strategies designed to
deepen comprehension.

We have provided books and materials to them. Teams of teachers have
collaborated with each other. Observers and reading coacheshave been in classrooms to
help and instruct. Principals have been involved and informed. We knew when we began
that with well designed materials, effective building leadership an strong professional
development based on reading research we could reverse the tide of reading failure.

Now, in year four, we are very proud of the changes we have accomplished.
Seven of the nine schools have met all or most of their improvement targets. The first
grade at Seaton Elementary School, whose lead teacher is with me today, showed an
average reading achievement score above the seventieth percentile on the Stanford-9
Achievement Test last year. Only 5 to 10 percent of children are below basic in grades
where the instruction is strong. And in many ofour schools, teachers have commented
that they the difference in students who are now going into third and fourth grade. They
are saying they can read; they can finally read.

Our research data are showing that at the end of the second grade in 1999 our
students on the whole were achieving slightly above the national average in reading
comprehension. The students who had achieved the most explicit training in phonological
skills were well above the average in basic reading and spelling.

And once again, the research is showing that students who are taught well and
early in kindergarten and first grade about the speech sounds and words and who are
taught phonetics, systematically and explicitly, reading fluency and comprehension make
better progress than children who not get the best instruction.

Today, I have brought one of these students with me and she would like to read to
you. Mikea Brandon is now in third grade at Seaton Elementary and she had the benefit
of research-based instruction for the total four years. She started with us in kindergarten.
She is now in third.

I am also accompanied by her kindergarten teacher, Mary Hailes, and her parents.
And Mary Hailes is here to also answer questions for the committee, if need be.

Mikea?

WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF MS. LINDA BUTLER, PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT SPECIALIST, NICHD EARLY INTERVENTIONS PROJECT,
WASHINGTON, D.C.; ACCOMPANIED BY MIKEABRANDON, THIRD GRADE
STUDENT, SEATON ELEMENTARY SCHOOL, WASHINGTON, D.C.SEE

13
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APPENDIX-C .

STATEMENT OF MISS MIKEA D. BRANDON, THIRD GRADE STUDENT,
SEAtON ELEMENTARY SCHOOL, WASHINGTON; D.C.

Miss. Brandon. Good morning. My name is Mikea D. Brnndon. I am eight years 'old: I
attend Seaton Elementary School in Washington, D.C. and I am in third grade.

WhY reading is important to me. Reading is important to me becaiise ai a little
person I am quite curimis and I need to knOw'What is going on in my world. Being able
to read allows me to be able to do things for myself and not have anyone to read to me.

Being able to read.tias.taught me that there are many things about the World that I
need ni'learn. Being able to read gives me the chance to aee the World through my own
eyes and not someone else's. Also being ableM reid alloWs me to form My own opinicins
as I grow up .

like to read because it allows me to use my imagination and fantasize about what
I would like in my life. Also, I like to'read because I am able.to comprehend arid pass my
tests in school so that I can be promoted to the next grade.

t

I enjoy reading about the different ath/entures with yaricius characteri in bdoks'
like my good friends Arthur, Barbie and Harry Nitta.. Being aiileto read is so'fnuch fun':

Thank you.

WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF.MISS MIKEA'D. 'BRANDON, THIRD GRADE
STUDENT, SEATON ELEMENTARY SCHOOL, WASHINGTON, D.C.-SEE
APPENDIX D

Chairman Goodling. Thank 'you.

Mrs. Barret?'

STATEMENT OF MRS. PAM BARRET, TEACHER, TOVASHAL
ELEMENTARY SCHOOL, MURIETTA, CALIFORNIA ,

Mrs. Barret: How do-you expect me to folk:ow that wonderful reading? -

. Thank you; ChairmadGoodling, for inviting ine to testify before your committee
today. I have to tell you that I aMin awe of tfiis toWn. fteaCh my' first graders about
patriotism and we talk about Washington, D.C. and I am standing Oh this verY soil, so I
am very excited to be here.

As a first grade teaCher at Toyeshal Elementary'SchOM, wife of a high school'', -
speCial education teicher and Mother of fiVe children ranging from sixth grade tO college,
I have had a variety of experiences that have helped me to arriveat my conclusiOnS about'
successful reading instruotion:

:14*
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I am not a rocket scientist, so I could not begin to put someone into space, but you
do not have to be a rocket scientist to launch a child on an academic course of
achievement that will enable him or her to reach their highest potential.

The process does not cost hundreds of thousands of dollars. It does take hard
work, patience, perseverance, courage and use of a curriculum that follows the current
research on how children learn to read.

In my opinion, based on the performance of my students and the students of the
teachers that I have trained, when students are systematically taught to read fluently by
the end of first grade, not third grade, they have the greatest chance of being successful in
later years.

It is so obvious to me how we can solve the educational crisis we face in this
country, but you must understand that there are administrators and teachers who have not
yet learned the proper method of teaching reading. Some do not want to change and
others let their egos get in the way. You would think our colleges and universities would
be leading the charge to effectively train new teachers, but this is slow in happening.

Just last year, Jenelle Eady, a first-year teacher, was hired at our school. I had the
thrill of training her to teach first grade. Fresh out of college, she had learned to teach
whole language, not phonics. She bravely put the whole language method behind her and
was willing to learn to teach phonics. By year's end, all of Jenelle's students learned to
read and passed our district's literacy assessment. Jenelle is a glowing success story and
is confidently helping to train two new teachers this year on our first grade team.

But imagine the teachers who have been teaching for years. These good people
were trained in whole language, a miserable experiment that taught children to guess at
words by looking at pictures and cues instead of sounding out words as in phonics
instruction. Change for these people is difficult. They believed the lie that whole
language would enable their students to be lovers of learning, lifelong lovers of learning
and authentic literature. Instead, many of their students slipped through the cracks, not
reaching their potential, and they sit in our nation's elementary, middle and high schools
as well as remedial English classes today. They do not love learning or reading because
you cannot love learning or reading if you cannot read.

I do not fault these dedicated teachers and administrators because they were only
teaching what they were taught to teach. However, I do fault educators today who refuse
to change and who disregard the current research and proven programs. Sadly, there are
still those in the state of California and in the nation who are in a state of denial.

The reflection I share with you today is not only my story, but parallels the
experiences of many Americans across the land. Like me, they have been in the trenches
fighting on behalf of literacy.

Recently, I spent the day with a panel of teachers from several districts in
California. As we shared our stories, we were amazed. Change the names and the faces
and our testimonials were the same. Each district had a grassroots group of parents and
teachers spanning the political spectrum who realized that students were floundering.
When we approached our districts with concerns, the response from district officials and
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other teachers was almost scripted. Ve were dismissed as uninformed non-educators.

.My daughter was a whole language victim. Five years ago when I asked
administrators why she could not write a paragraph on a topic using correct grarnmar,
spelling and punctuation, I was told that the children now have spell check and are
learning to be creative authors. .And,I, responded with another question,.what if they want
to be editors? I was,then instructed to let the professional educators handle it.

-*/
But I was a professional educator. I received my teaching credential in 1977 and I

taught and tutored students for years using phonics, so I knew that something was-terribly
wrong. Even though I volunteered daily at my children's school, campaigned for school
construction bonds and was honored by the PTA and nominated for citizen of the year, I
became public enemy number one When I raised concerns about the lack of student
literacy.in our local schools.

So we kept pointing to theresearchAt continuously, revealed that the solution
was systematic, explicit instruction: Soon more parents as well as ourlocal school board

members were supporting phonics.

Cbncurrently, Tovashal Elementary School opened in 1996. Under the leadership
of our Principal Chuck Jones, I was hired as a first grade teacher and we were allowed to
pilot Open Court, a successful phonics-based language arts program. Tovashal's first
grade and kindergarten scores that year were too high to be ignored.

Our district then adopted Open Court in kindergarten, first grade and a portion of -
second grade. Teachers eventually came around as they saw their students succeed using
phonics because nothing breed success.like success itself. '

I believe in my heart of hearts that you, too, want our nation's childrento reach
their highest potential in order to be productive citizens. We must keep the spotlight on
literacy and make it our highest goal. We cannot have the pendulum swing back to the
days of unproven methods: _Our children's education and the nation's future,are at stake.

L .- .

At Tovashal, we ask our first graders what readers become and they confidentlyp,
shout "Readers become leaders!"

I would like to extend an invitation to each one of you to visit our campus and see
some real'success stories and hear some future leaders read.

Thank you.

WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF MRS. PAM BARRET, TEACHER, TOVASHAL
ELEMENTARY SCHOOL, MURIETTA, CALIFORNIA-7-SEE APPENDIX E,

Chairman Goodling. Congressman Scott?

Mr. Scott. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 4

.

I just wanted to give a special welcome. I know you have introduced Dr.
Williams, but I noticed on the witness list she is listed as being from Washington, D.C.
That is the organization she is representing, but; of course, she is a professor at Norfolk
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State University, which is one of the largest historically black colleges and universities in
the country. We are just delighted to have her here today.

Dr. Williams, good morning.

STATEMENT OF DR. CARMELITA WILLIAMS, PRESIDENT,
INTERNATIONAL READING ASSOCIATION, WASHINGTON, DC.

Dr. Williams. Good morning and thank you, Mr. Scott.

Good morning, Mr. Chairman, and members of the House Committee on
Education and the Workforce. I am indeed delighted to be here.

I am Cannelita Williams, President of the International Reading Association and I
am also a professor in the School of Education at Norfolk State University. There, I
direct a program for children reading in grades K through 5 and I also direct a Title II
grant for our university faculty. This faculty is involved in helping children to learn
phonics, as well as whole language strategies and helping children to read well. So some
of us are not as slow as you often hear.

In terms of Norfolk State University, being one of the largest predominantly black
institutions in the nation, we are very proud to have an expanding role in serving the
increasingly diverse community in Hampton Roads, Virginia.

Under the leadership of Dr. Marie V. McDemmond, our president, Norfolk State
continues to be a leader in providing outstanding education for many young people today.

Again, I want to thank you for having me here to discuss literacy issues and the
reading readiness of our nation's children.

However, before I focus on that, I do want to take a minute note the long-term
commitment of you, Mr. Chairman, to reading and literacy and to Mr. Scott, to his
commitment to equity and excellence in this endeavor. We will miss your services as
you retire to the lifelong literacy commitment that you have shown throughout your
career, Mr. Goodling.

Literacy is a lifetime process of learning how to take meaning from text. This is a
complex process that is always changing as each individual brings new experiences to
interact with the text.

When we talk about reading, readers construct meaning by interacting with the
text so what readers bring or take to the printed page will impact what they get from the
printed page.

Reading readiness or emergent literacy is a critical stage in the process of
developing a fully literate person and it is important to understand where our
kindergartners are in relationship to mastery of these essential skills and abilities.

17
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If you will look at the chart in the text, you can see that many children come to
school with some of the readiness skills. In other words, they come knowing the letters
of the alphabet, some of them will come to school knowing the sounds represented by
these letters, some will.come to school having some knowledge of some sight words and
some will be able to read a few sentences. But for the most part, many children will
come to school without having these particular skills. And when you want to have
children to be able to be good readers, there are some very important things that are very
helpful for children coming into kindergarten.

If they know their letters, if they know the sounds represented by these letters, if
they have been read to, if they know how the printed page works, and if they have access
to reading materials, if they have access to parents who have been educated, they do
Much better when they come to school.

We know that all of these things are not possible for all children.

The challenge is to understand what the situation is and what needs to be done.
For example, simply constructing another set of tests to assess a child's knowledge of the
alphabet will not yield us the change that we are looking for. Some children develop
skills at different rates than others and this is true of skills required in learning to read.

Perhaps this is clear if you watch a group of five-year-olds play tee-ball. Some
can hit the ball, others cannot. -And just as in school, the child who cannot hit a ball on
top of a tee,at age five may grow up to be a star ballplayer. To take this metaphor a bit
further, the child who is growing slowly at age five may by age eight have developed a
rate of growth that is faster than their age peers. The difference is that in baseball we
expect different rates of growth, but somehow in schools and our education system, we -
sometimes forget that.

America's growing diversity is reflecta in the many different languages our
children hear and speak at home..This puts an added demand on our nation's schools, as
teachers and administrators are faced with.the task of meeting a.wide range of needs that
frequently they have not been trained to expect or understand. This can mean as
fundamental an issue as the way different cultures perceive,direct eye contact between
children and adults. In some culiures, the child is taught to respect adults by not looking
them in the eye, while in other cultures this is an insult.

To take this point further, it is also important to understand that teaching is not
just about curriculum. Reading instruction alone requires complex and sophisticated
knowledge by Me ieacher, but teachers are also working with students with wider and,
more complex social and educational problems than ever before.

t..1 t

What a child brings io the school, the background knowledge, his culture, his
special attributes, all contribute greatly to his ability to learn in a classroom setting.

In many schools, we know children come into class with social problems that go
beyond language and development. When you look at the complexity of helping children
to be good learners, you are looking at the content, what it takes for a child to be a good
reader, but you ate also looking at what the child brings to school, the culture, the
background, and you are looking at the instructor, the teacher, what that teacher knows

1'8 I
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and does for that child when that child is in the classroom. You are looking at that.

Then, finally, you are looking at the school-learning environment, what kind of
learning environment is represented in the classroom? In other words, is it a welcoming
environment, is it an environment where all children are being addressed, all children are
being helped? Is the classroom size such that each child can have the opportunity to
move and to learn to the best of his or her ability?

So you are looking at all those complexities when it comes to helping a child to be
a good learner, a good reader, and the idea is not to leave any child behind.

As we look at how can we equip schools with reading programs that will meet the
needs of all of these students, the International Reading Association has put together a set
of recommendations entitled "Making a Difference Means Making It Different:
Honoring Children's Rights to Excellent Reading Instruction."

We have developed this position paper because meeting the challenges of
teaching children to read and write in the 21st century will require a fundamental change
in how policymakers, parents and school professionals look at improving schools. Just to
give you an example, when we work with parents, we are helping them to understand that
they are important to helping their child be successful in school.

I remember the days when I was growing up when parents thought, okay, I do not
have to do that, let the school do it, let the teacher do it. And now we know that parents
have to play a real important part in helping their child to be successful and helping
parents to be aware of that is part of our task in making sure that no child is left behind.
Parents have a job to do.

The association believes that the ten specific principles which are listed on your
copy, and I will not go into them, but one of the first principles is that children have a
right to appropriate early reading instruction based on their individual needs because we
know that they have special attributes. They are coming to school with special
knowledge, we know they are coming to school from homes where reading makes a
difference, where education is important, but we also know that homes exist where
education is not important and they are not being encouraged to read.

So I am going to go right to the recommendations that we have listed here.

The first one is that all parts of the early education system, and especially schools
and community care programs, need to have teachers who are well qualified to teach
reading. This includes the preschool programs where teachers need to have training in
how to teach reading. Even at a three-year-old, a four-year-old age now, they can do this.

When we look at brain research and how a child's window of opportunity for
learning begins very early in their lives, there are a lot of things that parents can do to
ensure that that child is ready for learning when they enter kindergarten.

Then, secondly, more materials need to be developed for use by children from
different language backgrounds and these materials need to be in the classroom in
sufficient quantities.

19
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We have a position that it is best to teach reading in the child's language that they
bring to school from home, but we know that is not always possible. We know that there
are parents who feel that they want their children to be immediately immersed in English-
only classrooms, even though in their home life they are teaching a different language.
We respect that.

We respect those self-determination propositions coming from parents, but we
also know that children need in this country to become fluent in English. So it is an issue
we are still looking at, how do you deal with second language learners?

We know that there are some parent-school partnership models that have been
created and that they are very excellent for helping children learn to read, so we are
trying to help parents to also learn best how to help their children.

We need more information about developmental differences and how this
information can be disseminated to everyone so that the children can be successful..

We know that students who are developmentally delayed or have related
problems need to have access,to reading professionals who can help them to learn when
the regular classroom situation has not worked. Reading specialists are important.
Reading specialists are people who know.how to teach reading. We need those people in
the classrooms and we need that kind of training that they have to have in order to do
well with each child.

Especially important, schools need to have time to teach reading. There are so
many things happening during the day that sometimes a teacher of reading may go by the
wayside. In some research, they say that there are only seven minutes devoted to the
teaching of reading, seven minutes a day, seven minutes a day when a child has the time
to read a book, to enjoy reading. Because enjoying reading is One of the mOst important
things that we can help our children to do...

It is all right to know how to read, but if you never read, you are not going to
improve in reading. It is not going to come to them by osmosis, you have to be taught,
but it is one of the things that you have to do in order to become good at doing it. You
have to read. So access to books and all those things are very important.

Finally, we need to understand that our nation faces an enormous challenge in
areas of high concentration of poverty. Poverty means not having food, shelter and
safety. The impact of poverty cannot be minimized. In our nation, poverty is
concentrated in our cities. We cannot continue to build national programs that do not
allow cities to create the mechanisms they need to help their kids. We need to spend
money to educate teachers about the needs of urban children and how best to make sure
that these kids are able to read well.

The ideas that have been developed in our suburban environments are inadequate
to the task of educating all of these children. The frustrating part is that we do have the
knowledge of how to reach these kids, to reach them early and to make a difference in
their lives. The question is do we have the will to make a difference.

Each child should have the opportunity to be taught by a good teacher, as well
qualified teacher. There should be time to teach reading each day. Children should have
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access to print, plenty of books to read. They should be in a privileged environment and
we should also adequately assess children so that those kids who are not getting it by
third grade as you talked about the fact that in third grade many kids are reading to learn,
we need to make sure that by third grade that we do not have to continue to talk about
adults not reading because we did not leave any child behind, that all children are able to
read.

Thank you for the opportunity to testify, and I look forward to your questions.

WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF DR. CARMELITA WILLIAMS, PRESIDENT,
INTERNATIONAL READING ASSOCIATION, WASHINGTON, DC.SEE
APPENDIX F

Chairman Goodling. Thank you.

Some members have left to vote, and they will come back so that we can keep
going and then we will go and vote.

Next is Ms. Martino. She is accompanied by Pam Neifert, who is the Director of
Federal Programs in the City of York and I have worked with Pam for a long time.

Ms. Martino also is involved with Crispus Attucks, and I wish you all had a Crispus
Attucks like the one we have in York, run by a Bobbie Simpson, who is a no-nonsense
person who runs the show.

Ms. Martino?

STATEMENT OF MS. JAQUELINE MARTINO, TEACHER, YORK EVEN
START PROGRAM, YORK, PENNSYLVANIA; ACCOMPANIED BY PAM
NEIFERT, DIRECTOR OF FEDERAL PROGRAMS, CITY OF YORK,
PENNSYLVANIA.

Ms. Martino. Thank you, Chairman Goodling. Thank you for the invitation, and I
appreciate the opportunity to address the committee on the impact of family literacy
programs.

I have worked in Even Start since May of 1993 with families from all walks of
life. Members of these families have had real educational needs. These needs have been
in life skills, parenting skills, high school diploma or GED attainment and language
acquisition.

A few of the stories from those families are:

There is a Hispanic father in our program who spoke a little English. He felt like
a failure as a father and an outcast at his job. Within a year, this father learned English.
He was able to communicate with his co-workers, explain situations to his supervisor,
and he was able to read stories to his daughters and help them with their homework. You
can imagine the pride and sense of accomplishment this man felt after learning to speak
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English..

An African-American mother who came to our program with a negative attitude,
low self esteem and very little parenting skills earned her GD. That same mother entered
a training program for nurses and is now working in a nursing home. In Even Start, she
practiced mock interviews, learned to teach and play with her daughter and gain'
confidence in herself. Her daughter is now an honor roll student.

. .

A Cambodian family who could not speak any English came to our program. We
were able to talk to them using signs. Both parents learned enough English to start work
and the parents earned their driver's licenses and bought a car. Their children are now
doing well in school.

A family from France who could not speak English came to our program. The
mother wid daughters were in the Ev,en Start program for a year. The mother learned
enough English to help her older daughter be successful in school. Her younger daughter .

left our program as a real true conversationalist.

A Mexican family who came to our prog-am presented a challenge to us. The
children were so shy it was difficult to communicate with them. Their mother waaalso
shy and not sure of herself. After participating in our program, the mother volunteered in
the Summer Migrant Program. She now writes stories in English and helps fellow
students with translations. The children have just started school and are doing well. Her .

oldest child is in the gifted program.

A family from Argentina. The mother was a college graduate, but did not speak
enough English to obtain a job. She was going to go back to Argentina until she found
our program. She took ESL and parenting classes. She received her work permit and
now works in the public library system. She is now helping those who were in the same
predicament that she was in.

The last story I share with you is that of a young lady with a learning disability
who had her first child at the age of 14. She came to the program to learn to read since
she dropped out of school when she had her first child. She was very frustrated because
she could not read and was worried that she could not help her daughter when she started
school.

The mother got a tutor from our program and learned her basics. Her daughter is
doing well in school. She reads to her mother and helps her mother with difficult words.
They work well together. And even her small son that had a problem with the high level
'of lead that diagnosed during a screening at Even Start is doing well and learning in leaps
and bounds.

I could share many more stories that would touch your heart, but my intent is to .

assure that you understand the important impact family literacy programs have on people
and communities. It must be understood that parents are their child's first teacher. My
job is to assist the children in these families to achieve their full potential. Since the
parents are their child's first teacher, it is imperative that the parents are involved in the
educational devclopment of their child.

2 2
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Parents who participate in our program, however, were students who dropped out
of school for many different reasons. Parents have told me reasons such as pregnancy,
family finances, lost interest, language barriers, self-esteem issues, peer pressure, et
cetera, et cetera. Many of the parents do not have a positive experience of school and
have major educational needs of their own. This results in a lack of confidence in their
abilities. Therefore, how can he or she teach a child to do well in school?

Many parents do not speak English at all. They need to listen and adjust and they
need things modeled for them. Whether it is reading or writing or participating in
conversation, how can one teach their child if they cannot understand or speak English?
Remember, they are still an individual with rich cultural price and they come bringing
something with them, their hunger to excel for a better life for their children.

And then there are the parents who cannot read at all and I am talking about the
ones that were born in the United States. They never mastered the skill or they were just
pushed through school. How can this person teach their child? How can they support
their education? How do you build the confidence or the self-esteem of a parent who has
been told continuously that he or she is dumb and will always be dumb and your children
will be morons, too? If this person is told this enough he or she begins to live it. It
begins a vicious cycle which carries on in families through generations.

I feel that York Even Start Program has a positive effect on families who have
utilized the program. Parents and children learn to speak English, parents have earned
their GEDs, and parents have improved their parenting skills. Our parents are taught and
encouraged to read to their children have their children read to them every day.

Two parents in the program could not read at all when they began the program.
The parent educators helped them create books to read to their children. If you could have
seen the faces of the two adult students as they first began to recognize letters, then words
and finally the first time they read to their children, it is a sight that I will carry with me
all my life and their faces were beaming with pride.

Parents in our program are taught to take trips to the library regularly. They are
encouraged to check out books for themselves as well as their children and to participate
in activities at the library. Our field trips and opportunities are made available so that the
parents can learn age appropriate expectations.

Parents participate in PACT. PACT is our Parent and Child Time. This is the
time that the staff stresses the importance of the parent being the child's first teacher.
Together, the parent and child do literacy activities, hands-on activities, and they play.

In parenting classes, parents are taught to become part of a team. They are
empowered to be involved in their child's school experience. Parents are encouraged to
volunteer in school and to talk to their child's teacher whether there is a problem or not.
Some parents are intimidated by teachers and/or feel it is a sign of disrespect to question
a teacher. They are taught that it is their right as a parent.

Parents are also taught positive ways to discipline. Parents in the program form
and maintain connections within the community and their resources. Speakers from
different organizations come and give informative speeches on topics that are offered in
the community. Whether it be health, housing, nutrition, safety, this is a way that parents

2 3
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build resources in their community.

Parents learn to teach their child as an individual. All children do not learn in the
same manner and they should not be compared to each otber. Parents also learn the
importance of supporting and not just talking to their children, but also listening.

Parents become part of an advisory group that functions to plan educational and
hands-on activities, field trips and special events.

And, now, on behalf of these families, I thank you for the programs such as Even
Start, which changes lives forever.

WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF MS. JAQUELINE MARTINO, TEACHER, YORK EVEN
START PROGRAM, YORK, PENNSYLVANIA; ACCOMPANIED BY PAM
NEIFERT, DIRECTOR OF FEDERAL PROGRAMS, CITY OF YORK,
PENNSyLVANIASEE APPENDIX G

Mr. Petri. [Presiding] Thank you.

The shuffling going on, there is a vote on the House floor. I was able to go over
and vote and come back, so the chairman is now voting, but he will be back in just a
minute, as will some of the other committee members., This enables us to proc6ed rathei
than interrupting the very interesting testiinony.

The last witness is Mr. Ramirez.

STATEMENT OF MR. ENRIQUE RAMIREZ, FORMER ADULT EDUCATION
STUDENT, SAN FRANCISCO, CALIFORNIA

Mr. Ramirez. Hi: Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and thank you, members of the committee,
for having me here today. ,

I am sorry right now I don't have a written statement to give to you, but what I
have, it does come from the heart and it is reality, what's goingpn in our country.

I couldn't read and I couldn't write and in 1983, wheRmy son was, born, I could
not even find where he was at in the hbspital. It bothered me, it hurt me, but I had tofind_
my way to find my son and my wife.

' .

As time went on, there's a special bond between a fatherand a son and a parent
who wants to read to their child. As you know; it is important to read to your child. As a ,

young father at the age of 25 at the time, I couldmot do this. I,could not perform a simple
task by reading a bedtime story to my son.

_It hurt me and it hurt him. Night after night, I would send my son to bed crying
because his father couldn'V read to him.. He thought his father was just a grouchy old

Well, not only was he crying, I was hurting and crying inside. You see, my
father, he never read to me. He was an alcoholic, but we were never close. I didn't want

24
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this to happen to my son.

I knew at this time I had to make a change in my life. I had to build a bond
between my son and I. I did not want a distance like what happened with me.

I remember it was late one night, about 1:30 in the morning, something like that, I
seen an advertisement on TV about a gentleman who went through a reading program
and was able to learn to read, learn to write and move up at his job. And I went, wow,
that's cool. You know, I was a janitor, I was not really going anywhere, and I said I am
going to check this out. I was excited.

So I clled, 1:30 in the morning, I am ready to learn now, okay? However,
nobody was there, I got a number. However, it took a little while for me to get the
courage to call.

When I did call the program, they asked me to come downtown to this address in
San Francisco. I went down there and I go, wow, look at this, a library, who would have
thought? I just saw the buildings from the outside.

I went inside and I saw a different world. I saw a world of people in this literacy
program who were willing to take time to help adults like myself and I am going, this is
cool. I like this. I'm going to be in there by 9:00 and out by 1 o'clock, learning how to
read.

Well, it didn't take that little short time, but it did take a long time. But I tell you
one thing, within four months, I did read that bedtime story to my son. And I did start
building a bond between my son and I, the way it should be. And all those years I've
hidden from my wife that I couldn't read and I couldn't write, and that's something that I
couldn't do any longer, so I had to tell her, too.

My son never looked at me and my wife never looked at me as a person who
failed, who was weak, because I was encouraged by my son to do better for myself. And
as I continued on in the literacy program, my jobs got better.

I improved my reading skills a lot, and one of the most important things that come
out of this was that I was able to provide for my family, buy a home, and be really close
to my son. And in '87, I was able to find where my daughter was born. I was able to find
my way around and do things.

And then I got promoted at United Airlines. Prior to that, I used to just handle the
bags, the cargo. I became a trainer. I traveled across the country; I traveled to Japan and
to London, to train people how to use a hand-held PC to scan the freight. I was an
instructor. I have gone to Washington to speak on this before, to tell you the importance
of literacy.

Years ago, you invested money into a program of literacy, a library program,
adult education. In return, I am able to get a better job. Your investment is working. I
just want to let you know it does work. You are pulling people off of welfare. You are
getting people out there to work, where they need to get to be. People need to be a part of
this workforce. Correct. I know it is right.
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Your investment is working. That's the best investment you have ever made. I
am here today to tell you that.

Thank you for what you've done. You've changed my life. 'I feel that you've
made me a better father, a better husband. I have strong support from my family, and I'd
like to make one note. What I have to say is a challenge for you.

This country has an illiteracy problem. If you can take the ill out of the illiteracy,
make this country more literate; I think this will be a better place if you can do this.

Your investment is working. We're here to tell you that. It tines work. People
are becoming more literate, and I'd like to thank you very much. .

Mr. Petri. Thank you. And nnw we turn to questions from members of the committee,
starting with Mr. Kildee.

Mr. Kildee. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Thank you very much. I appreciated all the testimony. It was very, very helpful.
I apologize for the interrupted vote there.

Dr. Langenberg, you talked about the evolution of our knowledge and application
of physics in the 20th century. In the last ten years or even less, we have discovered
enormously more about the physical development of the human brain and the effect of
external stimuli on that physical development of the brain.

Are we in education ready to apply this new knowledge of the development of the
brain to our te'aching of reading? Or howunprepared are we? What is our teaching
training institutions doing with this new knowledge we have of the physical development
of the brain?

Dr. Langenbrg. I am way outside my field here, but I think it will take quite a while
before we're fully ready to apply what we are learning.

In this field, as in many others, there is a very interesting iterative feedback in
which new technology is used to do new experiments to learn new things, which then can
be turned into new technology. I do have the impression from the literature that progress -

is becoming more and more rapid in the neural sciences. I am aware that many people,
one of the members of the National Reading Panel, Dr. Shaywitz;actually does research
on children learning to read in MRI Machines; so in fact she can see'brain changes and
brain operations going on.

. .

All of that tiltiniately, I think, will lead to significant applications, bin it will take
a long time.

Mr. Kildee. I ask that question because I have living with me now my two-year-old
grandson: Since I have learned from the reading of the physical development of the
brain, which depends a great deal upon that -external stimuli, I read to him regularly and it ;
is incredible. He's been with me for about six months now and, of course, those are a .

very critical six months in the develoPment anyway, but it is amazing the 'althost miracle

26 =;-ve%



22

that keeps unfolding in his reading skills and his verbal skills. It is incredible.

I as a layman am trying to apply what I have learned from the field on the
.physical development of the brain, but I think you as a physicist can see things from a
scientific point of view and know that when Einstein did his E=MC2 eventually that
became something very, very practical. It was very theoretical at first. And if we can
make that quantum leap in the field of reading from our knowledge of the development of
the human brain, it would be a marvelous thing indeed.

But I really appreciate your coming. We very often have_and the educators did
an excellent job, too, in explaining this, but someone from another field very often can
see things and see the potential for development. I very much appreciate your testimony.

Dr. Langenberg. Thank you, sir.

Mr. Kildee. I yield back the balance of my time.

Mr. Petri. Thank you.

Mr. Schaffer?

Mr. Schaffer. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

My question is for Dr. Williams initially.

In your testimony, you outlined these ten rights that the International Reading
Association has identified. Would you agree that children who are being taught to read
have a right to have their teachers follow the findings of the National Reading Panel as
outlined by Dr. Langenberg today?

Dr. Williams. I do agree that teachers should definitely look at the latest research so they
can work with making sure that they implement the best practices coming out from the
report and I can say that many teachers are.

We know that comprehension of the reading text is very important and we know
that strategic comprehension makes a difference, helping children to be able to read the
printed page.

Have you ever read a page and you got down to the bottom of the page and you
didn't know what you had read? What did you do when that happened to you?

Helping children to understand that they have to move the information some way
besides just rereading it, they have to put it in their own words, they have to map it out,
but they have to be strategic learners and they have to be able to monitor their reading to
be ablato be a successful reader. That is coming out from the panel.

Plus, we know that fluency is important. Many times I tell people that I want the
children to read lots and lots of easy materials because that is how you develop fluency.
That is one of the ways that you will have children to read every word in a book, to be
able to get a book that they can read and they do know the words.
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So, yes, we think all of the information coming out of the reading panel report is ,
very important and that we are encouraging all of our teachers to use that information to
the fullest.

Mr. Schaffer. I do not know whether you had a chance to receive the written testimony
from all the panelists as we do here. ,

Dr. Williams. No, I have not.

Mr. Schaffer. We can make sure that occurs.

Dr. Williams. Okay.

Mr. Schaffer. Dr. Langenberg mentioned in his written remarks that certain, and I'm
quoting, "certain instructional methods are better than others and that many of the more
effective methods are ready for implementation in the classroom. For example, there was
overwhelming evidence that systematic phonics instruction enhances children's success in
learning to read and that such instruction is significantly more effective than instruction
that teaches little or no phonics."

And so my question is what is the International Reading Association doing
specifically to ensure that direct systematic phonics instruction is an essential component
of reading instruction?

Dr. Williams. Well, that is definitely an essential component. Being able to
systematically teach phonics is important. It is one of the major components of helping a
child to read because what it does it helps the child to be an independent reader, to know
the sounds represented by all the letters. So to teach it systematically rather than having
the children to guess at which letter or sound you are teaching is much better, so we
definitely agree with that.

We also have a position statement on the teaching of phonics. We know that
phonics is important, it is an important component, along with phonemic awareness, but
we know that there are several components to having a successful reader, not just phonics
and phonemic awareness. We also believe in reading to children, reading aloud to
children. We also recognize the fact that shared reading, guided reading, language
experiences, all of these are important in having an engaged reader because we know that
children do not get turned off by knowing just "bh", "dh", and "kh", they also need to
understand about the pleasures and joys of reading.

Mr. Schaffer. Mrs. Barret indicated in her prepared remarks that Whole language, and
I'm quoting again, "Whole language is a big reason for illiteracy today. Now that the cry
for phonics has swept the nation, the whole language believers say they have embedded
phonics and systematic contextual phonics. They claim to provide a balanced reading
program. In truth, these aren't systematic or direct, but rather implicit phonics where
phonics is implied. These are counterfeit balanced reading programs," she says.

And I want to know do you agree with Mrs. Barret?

Dr. Williams. I do not agree totally that phonics. I agree with Mrs. Barret in that phonics
should be systematically taught. Whenever we have very good whole language
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programs, those teachers, and I am a former first grade teacher, those teachers taught
phonics systematically. Even though the whole language strategies have proven to be
those kinds of strategies that encourage children to want to read, good teachers always
have known that they needed to also teach phonics, they also need to make children
aware of phonemic awareness, so there are some strong components that each program
needs to have in order to be an excellent reading program. And phonics is definitely one
of them, but phonics is not the only one.

Chairman Goodling. Mr. Scott?

Mr. Scott. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Dr. Langenberg, you indicated, as I guess several of you have indicated, the
importance of research. Where do the state school system and 15,000 districts across the
state, where do they get that research? Do they have to kind of sifl through it and figure
out on their own what is best?

Dr. Langenberg. Boy, is that a big question. Where does the research come from? Well,
it is performed within universities and other institutions.

What happens to it when it is done? It is reported in the scientific literature. And
often, too often, that is the end of the responsibility of the researcher, as they see it.

But the transition to application of that knowledge is very hard, very complicated.
That is true in education as it is true in other areas like my own, physics, and so teachers
want to be taught how to analyze and judge research, but they also need a lot of help from
the researchers themselves.

Mr. Scott. Does the Federal Government have a role in helping to kind of compile and
present the various options so that a small rural school district does not have to figure out
everything on its own?

Dr. Langenberg. I think it does. I think it can. In that regard, as in many others, I think
the Federal Government has important roles right from the beginning, the early support of
research right through assisting in the mechanisms for transforming it into applications.

Mr. Scott. Well, let me ask any of the witnesses, including you, Dr. Langenberg, how is
the Federal Government doing in that role, in helping present research so that people
know what they're doing?

Dr. Langenberg. I would say not as well as it might.

Mr. Scott. Thank you.

Dr. Langenberg. I think further emphasis would be appropriate.

Mr. Scott. Good.

Does anybody else have a comment on that? Dr. Williams?
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Dr. Williams. At Norfolk State University, we do have several grants. One is a Title II
grant where we are working with helping teachers to understand how to use technology
as well as how to implement the latest research on best practices when it comes to
helping new teachers going out into the field to know what the report says coming out of
the National Reading Panel, coming out of. preventing difficulties.

We also have a Title III grant that encourages using technology, that promotes the
use of technology in working with teachers, present teachers, in-service teachers. So we
have several grants that focus coming from the Federal Government that helps us to focus
on preparing teachers to do well when they go out into the field.

Mr. Scott. After you have done all that good research, what happens to the information?

Dr. Williams. In terms of the information? . It is reported back to you on a regular basis.

Mr. Scott. I guess it is our responsibility, then, to figure out what to do with it.

Chairman Goodling. Mrs. Barret wanted to respond

Mrs. Barret. I was going to say, this is like a draft form of something we have in
California called "Learning to Read" and it is components of beginning reading
instruction, K to 8. And I will tell you, I am real happy about what is happening in
California. There has been a huge fight there. If you read my testimony, I have left a ton
of information out, but these different methodologies fighting together and when.the
research came out, California has it published in something that is a much nicer copy than
this, but it talks about all of the components and what all of the research says on what is
the most effective way to put those together in a classroom. That is real helpful for
teachers.

I know that is not coming from the federal government, but I am saying, boy, why
reinvent the wheel? There are states doing this now and there are standards in place.

Mr. Scott. Thank you. I do not mean to cut you off, but I wanted to get in one more
question before that red light comes on and that is what effect the student/teacher ratio
has on all of this effectiveness.

Mrs. Barret. I will tell you that it is much easier, of course, to teach with 20 in the
classroom, but this was never about how many kids are in the classroom. It has always
been about what are you teaching the children, what is the curriculum, what is the
methodology that is being used. And I had 32 in 1996 in my classroom and I worked just.
as hard as I am working now. Yes, it is a little easier, but it is always about the
methodology: It is always about most effective instruction, not having them guess at
words. .

We have in our elementary schools, as I mentioned, wehave kids who were
victims of whole language who were, you know, immersed in literacy. .They had the rich
print all around them, they could guess through all these books. But if you gave them a
neW text with no pictures, these children had no clue what was on that paper.

Furthermore, they could not spell. I will tell you when the doctor was say
methodological, I went, oh, that is a word by November my first graders will spell

,
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because they know the symbols that I have taught them, they know the rules how that is
put together. Man, I am going to put that on a spelling quiz.

My point is that, you know, all the fluff was in there. My fourth grade daughter
cooked all of first grade, oh, that was fun, thought she was reading recipes. Let me tell
you, she was not. And I was too much of a chicken then to take a stand until things got
tough for her in fourth grade. We cannot go back to that.

You know, I read rich literature to my children. They are learning to read; they
are reading these little first step stories. Decodable text. That means there are words in
there that are based on the lessons that have previously been taught. For example, this
"Grab a Star," if I took a glass here and if I had a felt pen I would put an A-R on there
and we teach the children that the A-R is like gargling apple juice or something, AR, AR,
AR. And so they all take their little hands and, you know, do the little AR, AR, and then
we have added this new sound so they are reading a story.

This story is a story about a mother and a child and the child is looking at the stars
and he says, "Gee, I want to touch that star."

And just like I am wearing stars here today, I want my children to reach for the
stars. He cannot reach for that star, it is impossible, but this mother is very smart and he
says to her, "Mom, you are smart. A-R says AR." So the kids read that. And we put
these flashlights on and we turn it on and we are shining stars all over the kids. We are
giving them a star that they can touch. We are helping them to be a star in whatever it is
their potential_

Mr. Scott. Mr. Chairman_

Mrs. Barret. Am I over? I am sorry.

Mr. Scott. Could I get Dr. Williams just to say a word about the student/teacher ratio and
the effect that might have? Just a quick word?

Dr. Williams. Thank you, Mr. Scott. One of the things we have discovered is that the
student ratio does make a difference because one thing about having the small class size,
you are able to hone in on each child and you are able to make sure that each child is
learning so that no child is left behind. In a class of 30 or 35, it is really difficult to make
sure that each child is getting what that child needs to be successful, because you know
coming into the classroom, each child is coming with special attributes, coming from
special cultures and being able to reach and touch each child to ensure that he is
successful makes a difference. And smaller class size can help do that.

Chairman Goodling. Dr. Williams, I am sure you will be happy to admit in this
political debate that we have, if you cannot put a quality teacher in that classroom, it
really does not matter what the size of the classroom is. You will probably say if you
only have 15 and you have a lousy teacher you are going to save the other 15 that do not
have to be in that classroom.

Mr. Ehlers?
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Mr. Ehlers. It is hard to follow that wisdom, mr. Chairman.

I apologize for missing most of the hearing, I was across the hall in a hearing
about Sierra Leone, but I do want to just pursue Mr. Scott's question to Dr. Langenberg
on the issue of research.

We have had substantial testimony in the past year both in this committee and in
the science committee indicating that the research done on education in the United States
and perhaps worldwide is just by and large not first rate quality. The figure that was
tossed around by a number of speakers is 20 percent is very good, solid research, 80
percent is questionable. Tile question is if that is true, how can we improve that
situation?

As you well know from your research work in physics, there is a good cadre of
excellent work out there and everyone tries to reach that level and the peer review
process works very well, but how can you do it when the peers are not very good? In
other words, how can you pull yourselves up by your bootstraps when you do not have

.boots to begin with?,

And I am wondering how you as a university president view that. Would you
agree with the testimony?

Secondly, if you were at a university where you did not have the.quality of
research, how would you address that and how do you think American universities in
general should address that problem?

Dr. Langenberg. Like many non-experts, I have exactly the right answer. First of all
let me note that of the 100,000 or so research reports that the panel dealt with, perhaps
10, 20,000 or so might cover some of the larger, more heavily studied subjects. .

. , .

When the panel members came to applying those methodological standards, that
basically the research be soundly scientifically based to, let's say 10,000 reports, they
very frequently.found themselves winding up with several hundred that they could really
use as a basis for deriving conclusions.

I am not sure that is so much a matter of quality but of character, of kind.
Teaching and learning is, in my view, like many problems in the hard sciences. They are
interdisciplinary. In order really to understand who children learn to read, it seems to me
that we want to have research performed by interdisciplinary teams that might include a
neuroscientist, a psychologist, a linguist, an educator, and maybe in,this day and age a
computer analyst as well.

In addition, the large-scale clinical trial style research that is necessary in the end
to determine whether a proposed methodology or a skill really does work has to be large
and long-standing. Typical.for a biomedical clinical trial might be five years,.5 million
bucks for a moderate-sized trial; big ones are ten times that..

We are not really equipped, either with the interdisciplinary researchers in our,
universities nor by the funding mechanisms in our Federal Government that fund that
research to do the kind of jobs that need to be done in that area.
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What I would do on my part and, in fact, what I am planning to do in the odd
monient, is to see whether I can create some interest in my institution in such a large
interdisciplinary research. Call it a center or an institute that might in fact do the kind of
research I think needs done. But if we could create that, the question then arises where
are you going to get the kind of funding required to do research on that scale? That is
your side of the job.

Mr. Ehlers. Yes. Thank you.

And that leads to my second question, which in my experience and in the
testimony we received as well, but also as I say my personal experience, that one of the
biggest difficulties in teacher training is the divorce between the so-called academic
departments and the schools of education. And I am convinced we cannot do a good job
of preparing future teachers unless we bridge that gap and bring them together in some
systematic way. It is happening on an individual basis, but not systematically or
frequently enough.

That might well tie in with your idea of interdisciplinary research and perhaps the
issues that every university president should be encouraging their schools of education to
work closely with the so-called academic departments, not just in teacher training, but
also in reseaith, and not just in research, but also in teacher training.

Dr. Langenberg. Yes, I agree completely.

Mr. Ehlers. Does that seem reasonable to you?

Dr. Langenberg. I agree completely.

Mr. Ehlers. How would you envision the federal government playing a role in
encouraging the universities to do that other than through research funding? Or is that
the only mechanism?

Dr. Langenberg. Well, that is certainly the principal mechanism. Education in our
country is by and large a local matter and it is very difficult for the Federal Government
to get into the middle of such things as teacher training, but in the standards which
increasingly are being considered such as the Title H standards, reporting standards for
teacher certification that are now coming into place, there is a mechanisrh that could
encourage institutions to make sure that their young would-be math teachers actually
know some math and their young would-be science teachers actually are adept at science.
That's a possible mechanism.

Mr. Ehlers. We have one other hook; if I may just, Mr. Chairman, mention this.

That is we have many loan forgiveness programs here for various means and one
way to use a loan forgiveness program would be to provide loan forgiveness for teachers
who do fulfill that and get that type of curriculum.

Dr. Langenberg. That is correct.

Mr. Ehlers. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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Chairman Good ling. Mr. Kind.

Mr. Kind. Thank you, Mr. Chairihan.

,1; -.4
This has been a very interesting panel and I want to thank all the witnessestor

.
4coming and testifying before us,today.

I want to especiallY thank Ms: Brandon foi your outstanding job in appearing .

befor'e us an4 testifying. Did you prepare that statement yOuiself for hs today? You did a
wonderful, Wonderful job:

Also, Mr. Ramirez for your inspirational testimony. It is always great getting
some feedback on programs that are working and working Well;,but I, tob, believe we
have a great untapped potential that existkoht there with adults andthir
that if we can upgrade them, makethern more productive Meinbers of our ,s6Ciety as
obviously you have been able to achteve,lbetter iriemliers 'of societY, but also better'
parents and fathers and husbands as you have teStified We would be a kit better off

I think it requires an incredible amount of courage for adults to recognize that .
challenge and then go in and do something about it, as you have.

So thank you for your teitimony.

. . .

I just 'want to touch upon a couple of issuei and opeh it up for anyone who bas
some information On it 13iit'Maybe We'conld start With Dr. Langenberg. '

,

.

Iri regards to the hie Of Computer technology in teaching literacy skills What is
going oh out there? Is that becoming more and More_freqUently used?, Since it is so new,
I cannot iniagine there is a lot 'of publishea rePorts and feedback in that area, but ;

obviously there has been a big ramp up in the education system in trying to get kids

. 4 . .access to computers and teachers in using that right now.

.
,

That is one area and let niejust isk the other one briefly, too, and then'We can just
open it up a little bit. There has-beeri a thige increase in preschool picigrams being
developed right now. I know I have a school district in my district in western Wisconsin
that went to a universal preschOol program. .

. . .

Are we getting some informatioriback as fai aS the academic cothixthenfof .

literacy and readiUg.at the presehobl le:,e1, whether thai Makes 'sense at that 16,0, oij if it
is too Much too soon?

And with that, we will just open it, maybe starting with you, Dr. Langenberg..

. .

Dr. Langenberg. :The panel did look at the area of technology7ehhanced literacy
educatioirianddid hot find a lot. That didn't surprise anybody. There, is some there and,
some of it is pretty good, but in my view, that is a relativelY'hitexplored area and one that
I think ought to be strongly supported by the Federal Government.

Mr. Kind. Thank you. Anyone else? Any information on the use of computer
technology for literacy?
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Mr. Ramirez?

Mr. Ramirez. In the program that I belong to, Project Read in South San Francisco, they
do have a computer lab for adults because, as we know, the workforce is changing.
There are more computers in the workplace and many adults who have been there for 20,
30 years have to learn how to use these computers, such as I had to learn. Without these
programs, you know, I would have been out of a job again. I know they have some; they
are just starting up in our program. They are very low funded. We get, you know,
computers that are used from donors who just want to give them up. But just to let you
know, they are working and in our program it works very well, to get people comfortable
using them.

Mr. Kind. I imagine a lot is going to depend on the quality of the program. If it is just
drill and memorization, it probably is not going to be the most effective teaching tool
available to students. And then again we are hearing some of the early childhood
development experts coming out now publicly saying maybe we are going too fast too
soon in the use of computers, especially with children at very young ages, and that may
not be the appropriate exposure that they need at that level at least.

Dr. Williams, did you have a comment?

Dr. Williams. We are working at the university to ensure that our teachers who are going
out into the schools have a good working knowledge of how best to use computers in the
classroom. There are many ramifications to it and we are not all there yet, howeverwe
are doing things like making sure they understand about students, having them to use the
List serve, being able to use the computer to make a system, and understanding the
language of computers. There are many areas we are working on and trying to make sure
that they have the equipment. That is another big, big issue, in knowing what software
would be best to help children to read well and so we are making progress there, butwe
still have a long way to go.

Mr. Kind. What about the greater use of preschool education programs, not an illiteracy
component of that? Have you looked into that aspect, how important that is at a
preschool level, to get the kids prepared for their formal education careers?

Mrs. Barret. I would like to say that I think it is important. I know the kindergartners
that come to our school who have been in preschool, if they have just hada free for all
and there is no building of language, there is no word play, no rhyming,no work with
phonemic awareness, those children that come to kindergarten are not prepared and then
those kindergartners then come to first grade not prepared because they have difficulty
blending words because the phonemic awareness isn't there.

So my perspective as a first grade teacher and the experiences that I have had
working with kindergarten teachers, those preschoolers need to come in language rich
and being able to play with words and rhyme words and that is a wonderful precursor to
being successful at decoding words.

Mr. Kind. Dr. Langenberg, did you have something to add?
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Dr. Langenberg. I just wanted to add a story that I think is relevant to thacomputer
issue.

Kids do wonderful things and recently in, I think, the Baltimore Sun there waaan
interesting story about a small agricultural village near Hyderabad in India. Now,
Hyderabad, as many of you know, is basically the center of India's Silicon Valley and -
India produces the second or third largest number of IT professionals in the world. But
all around it are little Indian villages, doing agriculture, much the way they have for
centuries.

One of the people in Hyderabad installed a computer in each of a number of these
villages. They put them in the center of the vffinge behind glais and they knew
keyboards and-mice would not survive, so they'put ajoystick and an Internet connection
and they went away and left it. And watched.

The village kids started playing with it and lo and behold, one of the first things
they did, they did get rid of the Internet, they liked Microsoft Word better, and the next
thing you know the kids are downloading Music from the web, they're doing all of the
things that Our kids do, and it is jtist absolutely amazing. And the teacher is outraged; for !
reasons that we can go. into later, if you like:-

Mr. Kind. Thank you.

Thank you, Mr..Chairman.

Chairman Goodling. I will take my turn next and then, Mr. Holt, you will be the next
one after me. -

Dr. Langenberg, if the president at my university gives Dr. Szymanski and
sufficient support, I think she will turn that education department around. I reminded him
research is not the greatest thing that they have to do: -The greatest thing they have to do
is prepare quality teachers for classrooms today.

Ms. Butler, I do not envy you your job, but you are doing God's work and I just
wish you the very best because if we cannot turn it around in those early grades, I do not
know how we areever going to, as I said before, compete in the 21st century.

-

Miss. Brandon, do you read Magazines and newspapers?

Miss. Brandon. Yes.

Chairman Goodling. And how many books do you think you read in a year's time?

Miss.-Brandon. About four.

Chairman Goodling. What kind of books do you enjoy reading?

Misi. Brandon. Harry Potter books and Arthur books: ,
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Chairman Good ling. Are you teaching everybody at home the joy of reading good
books and magazines and newspapers?

Miss. Brandon. Yes.

Chairman Good ling. Do they find you a nuisance?

Miss. Brandon. Yes.

Chairman Good ling. Just keep it up.

I would say to Mrs. Barret and Dr. Williams, if we could get as many; if we could
fill classrooms with enthusiastic people who are knowledgeable, we could turn this
situation around. I watched what was happening in California so many times and it just
seems that repeatedly they are the biggest and they have made the biggest mistakes of
any. I can say that, George Miller is not here right now, so I can get away with that.

Dr. Williams, I was not indicating that early grade small classrooms are not ideal.
I did not come to Washington to ask to do that as a superintendent, I went to my school
board and we did that 30 years ago in kindergarten, first and second grade. However, we
had a quality person to put in there. The first 30 percent that we hired under this new
program from the federal level were totally unqualified. Now, we put them into
classrooms where just last year New York News or one of the New York newspapers had
headlines "Parents, do you realize that 50 percent of all of your teachers are totally
unqualified?"

And so we have been trying on the Higher Education Act to force these colleges
and universities to turn out qualified people for the 21st century.

Last year, we had a hearing here and we asked the first grade teacher what
instruction did you have on teaching reading in college and I assumed she was going to
say 1 had a course on how to teach reading and if you do not know how to teach reading,
stie said I did not have any courses in how to teach reading. She said my professor said
that if I could read, I could teach anybody to read.

Well, we just heard from a rocket scientist this morning that teaching reading is a
step above rocket science. Mr. Ehlers, we heard that in your absence. You didn't know
it, and you did not understand their conversation back and forth; they are scientists and
they are above my level.

Mr. Ehlers. Be careful, Mr. Chairman, you are outnumbered here. We have three of us
now.

Chairman Goodling. Ms. Martino, have you done follow-ups to see how the children are
doing after they have left, in second grade, third grade and so on, when they left Even
Start?

Ms. Martino. Yes, we do that through the school district. We track them through the
school distract. Every year, that is part of our reporting.
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Chairman Good ling. And how are they doing?

Ms. Martino: MOst of them are'dOing prettj, well. I know sonie of ihe children that.I
have had are honor roll-students:" A lot of thestifdents are honor roll.students and dOing
pretty well in'schoof because I know thern perionally through nOt onlY EvenStart but at -
Crispus Attucks. .

Chairman Goodling. And Mr. Ramirez, you are the example that we need to show,on
-television and movies arid everything else to Make sure peciple understand, yin' know,
how you get ahead in this world'an'd reading is certainly a very, very important part' of'
that.

So I thank all of you for your testiMon'YTh has been adenlightening expaience.
Now all we have to do is keep, as I tell this committee and theysre tired of hearing it,
talking iil'temis of quaiity instead of quantity and results insteed Of PrOcesi. -I think we
are moving in the right direction: I just wish there welt More we could'do onee theylet
beyond first, second. I do not even buy this third eade bUsiness that eveiybody talks
about because I think there are dropouts_if they are not reading at a first grade level, they
are pretty much dropouts bY the end OffirSt giade, riot phySically.

Mr. Holt?,

Mr. Holt. Thank yOu,-Mr:Chairinan: Thank Yoii foi holding this hearing. ')t is tirniely
_and important and yOu have been nofjust a leadei ' '

Chairman Goodlifig.-Ariother seientist,i Might say. ' ' ' -''' '
Mr. Holt. You have been not just a leader, but the leader in thia iight fOrr literacy and 1'
hardly need to repeat that literacy really is the primary tool for lifelong learning: It opens
up doofs for new opPortunities d exPenenees,,it makes pOssibie,1 leaining in
science and Math and art as"Well.

,
One Of the things that Seems clear tia'me is that We canrint Wait until these childien

start school. Reading to young children in the early years and before School and'iltiring
those early school ages clearly has a prOfotind effect.

. . .

I wanted to mention a piece Of legislation that Mr. Upton and nine other members
of this committee and I have introduced called the Book Stamp Act, which will help
provide.children with their own books. It would.authorize money to issue a special
postage stamp, which would be Sold at slightly Molt than 33 CentS, the additiOriai
revenues would be distributed through childcare and development block grants to gie,
state child care ageneies in each staie. The State agencies would alloCate.the funds SS that
books would end up in the lirids-of children. '

These non-profit agencies work with established book distribution programs such
as First Book, Reading is Fundamental, Reach out and Read, you knowsOine' of ifieie.

And Since the YOungest children cannoi read on'their own, these-agencies will also
work with the parents and the child care providers to educate them on the best WaYS to
read to children and the most effective use of books with children at various stages of
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development.

So I have a couple of questions. Let me first start with a question that I would
address to any or all of you. What role do you see for such non-profit agencies for the
earliest years, the preschool years, in seeing that children actually have books to treasure?

I would open that up to any of you who would care to speak.

Ms. Butler. It is a very important role and we need it. I must add that I first started in
education in early childhood, I started with the Head Start programs back in the early
1970s and back then there was a need then for us to start giving enriching literacy events
for children, having lap readers to come in, the foster grandparent programs to come in
and read to these children and also to hand children books.

We have a real big RIF program that we have in the district, I know, and RIF is
Reading is Fundamental, it is a very important entity in the District schools that get the
books into the hands of children and for parents.

I want to also address the early education programs that we have in the District
because we are very unique in having full-time, full-day pre-kindergarten programs. Our
children start at 2.9 in the District and they are going to school all day long. So we need
lots of books. We need lots of literacy programs. So we have introduced programs such
as the Letter People to our children and we have in this project, the NICHD project, we
are trying to reach down to our pre-kindergarten programs and we are giving them
phonological awareness activities, the phoneme awareness, because they need to hear the
sounds and all of that. But most and more importantly they need books, like you said.

Mr. Holt. Ms. Williams, Mr. Ramirez?

Dr. Williams. I would just like to add that having access to print is very important for
early readers and if a child is able to select a book to be read to, to have a book of his or
her own, that is very important. And as a RIF coordinator for the past 21 years, having
programs where we have children who are age 3 on up to be able to select a book, it
really makes a difference. And it is another book into the home where there may not be
lots of books already. So I think when children are able to access, have access to books,
they learn how the printed page works, they learn about words, they learn about ideas and
concepts, so having books in the home and having their own books, that is very
important.

Mr. Holt. The time is flying and I did want to get one other question in.

This is perhaps redundant from what my friend the other physicist on this
committee addressed to our physicist panelist here. I am pleased tosee my friend here
from the University of Maryland.

In your remarks, Dr. Langenberg, you have, I think, said quite clearly teachers are
the key and we should expect no less of a teacher subjecting a student to curricular
content or inethodology than we would expect a doctor to use a doctor that has been
tested for efficacy.
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What i;ve need to knoWand siri-ce My timeis running out,' I guess I would aak you\
for a later discussion how we can ataftlish ihe environment in the-Schools-and the -system
in the schools so that we can continue to keep teachers up tn,date on what'we learn. We
are learning a lot about how children learn and we will continue to learn a lot about how
children-learn and i'iathr from yourrepOrt'frOm the readiiig panel Mat there is niiOne
way of doing it, thafeo-Mhinations of these Programi that so manytOnt are often better
than any one of themaftine.

I ani so concerned that we find i Way to Make every leaCher to expose eVery
. _

teacfter to the currerit research, to involvelhem in applying that new research day bY day.
And if any of you would have five or teri=seCOndeothmentS'ori thaf, I think Perhaps we
could squeeze that in.

- - . .
Dr.,Langeoberg:, Maybe ten plus five:' ,ThePresident of the National Academy oi

_Engineering has been goirig dround lately Saying that the half-life of a good engineering
education these days is abOut five year's: What that means is you get it and in fiv.e years

,

you are going tO lose a large pait Of it '

Teachers share with engineers and many other professions the increasing need to
be continuously edncated throughout theiiworking careers and we ought to give attention
to how We do that for every profession: here is a lot to be Said for Online; web-based '
ways of reaching working protessionali:

Mr. HoIt. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
-

Chairman Goodling Ms Brandom lunderstand j,Our'parenti. are in the auie-fiCe.Th_ey
must be awfully pioud.

We should recognize the parents.

Chairman Goodling. VerY good.' Yon will discover When you are 21 that j,our parents
are pretlY smart. You will nOlicnOw that until you are 21:

Mr. Isakson?

Mr. Isakson. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

First of all, an obiervation. If everY fiiii-giider had Mi. Barret is a teacher; as
evidence to the chairman's statements.; class size Would not makea whole lot of
difference, Qiiality teachers make a lot And I am' surelhat applies to Ms. Butler and
Ms..Martino'just as well Ijust happened to ctch.Mrs!Birret's animated example of how
to pronounce A-R, and it just'inadean iMpression On me:

And I commend, too, Miss Brandon-being here, because I have a' funddinental
belief that while we're all talking about solutions and reSearch we really do not talk
enough about the difference it makes to a child from the environment they come from,
whether theY are read to, whether reading is rinportant, whether they are expesed-toh:
music in the home. And-I happen to tie One that thinica the brain research makes a1batof
sense in terms of the stimulus-frorin birth to age three. 1

t
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Would you comment a second, can you almost spot when you get a first grader
the one that came out of an environment that was supportive and encouraging of reading .

and one that did not?

Mrs. Barret. You bet I can. And I was going to say to the gentleman over here about
the books, you can have a gazillion books in your home, and some of those kids, I mean,
they come and there's a wealth of language there, but it is also because the parents are
talking to them and verbalizing about everyday occurrences in the home. And I have also
had students who come to me whose parents have read to them since they were in the
womb and they have had difficulty learning to read. And we have had to go through the
process and the system of teaching them the sounds.

Yes, I would love to say that the home is just the most important aspect of this,
but you have to understand that there are circumstances where there are perfect homes
and the parents have done everything and the children cannot learn. And I wish you could
visit Kelso or Bennett Q Elementary Schools in Ingelwood. They have a lot of kids on
the school lunch program. Those kids learn to read and they have single parent moms
and those kids learn to read because of systematic instruction. So we cannot lose that.

I mean, yes, it is wonderful to have all the frills. You know, gosh, I play every
week we a different composer, we have Mozart and Vivaldi and Johann Strauss and so I
know for many of them that is new. But please do not lose sight of the instruction that
the research shows.

Mr. Isekson. No, not at all. In fact, your answer leads into the question I'm going to ask
the chancellor in just a second. But I do think sometimes we put so much blame, and I
use blame as the word, on teachers when in fact the support from the home in many,
many cases can make a fundamental difference.

Now, in the case of developmental disabilities and learning disabilities, I think
that leads into my question to the Chancellor with regard to research. I think those key
areas in terms of identifying how to deal with specific problems where instruction and
systematic instruction can really make a difference, and I bring you greetings from Dr.
Steven Portch.

Dr. Langenberg. Thank you.

Mr. Isakson. He brags about you, he says you are a very engaging, intelligent
gentleman. So I want to ask you a question. With the exception of the University
System of Maryland, do you think the colleges of education in the United States of
America are doing a good job of training our teachers today, not only with regard to
reading, birt also with regard to just teacher training for the 21st century classroom?

Dr. Langenberg. Including those of the University System of Maryland, not nearly good
enough.

Mr. Isakson. The reason I made that; that was an unfair question and your answer was
great, I agree with you on the research. From everything I have seen, I am a salesman, I
am not a physicist, but I did chair a state board of education for quite a while, and it
seems like that the variety of techniques, particularly as it relates to reading that are so
critical to instruction don't appear to be taught. More often than not, we see teachers who

4



37

-taught a system or an approabh, maybe it is Whole language, maybe it is phonics, arid'
maybe it is something.lse, as the way. Ih fact, in reading, whtch I read your testimony
and I would agree thatI clO not know how t6 do rocket scienqe, however I AcnowteiChine,

-reading does not have the constaney that-you would hive in any scientific eXperiment A
think we really have to focus on getting our colleges Of education much more aWareof
teaching the variety of instruction that is out there for dealing with reading, both from a
standpoint of encouraging as well as disabilities, and take advantage of what research we
already haVe, much less the researchthat we need. If we ire not teachiag the teicher that
comes out more than one way to skin thetat soto speak, thenit does not inatter what else
we are dOing. That is just an obsefvation that I wanted to make, but I think it is so
important, our universitY systais foctis on that training because if they can read, theYean

.do anything. If they cannot read, they cannot do-anything. And nothing else, to me,
seems to matter, particularly in K through three.

Dr. LangeObeig.4 agree with you'. 'Among the things I learned'working with the panel is
that there really is no one silverbullet.

We have a terrible tendericy in this couritr-y AO irear life and everything in it as
though it were a football game. There is A and there is B 'and theY butt heads and we see
who wins. And the panel was widely touted as arriving at as one of its results the
proclamation of the winner in the great battle between whole language and phonics. But

, -
the fact is if You kook at the paners outcome, you will find elements Of Foth. Phonics is
clearly very important in fluency and comprehension acquisition. There are elements of
things that some people would say were part and parcel of the ideology of whole
language. *You do have to-know and be able to use lots of different ways to apProach lots
of different leaniing situations.

Mr. Isakson. Thank you.
. .. , ; . .

Thank yOu, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman Goodling. I am going to.ask Mr. Ehlers torake over. According to our list,
Mr. Hinojosa iS next, and Mr. *ayne. I haveto go plead-before the Appropriations chair,
for money at 11:30.

thank You ll again'for your testimonY,. Mr. Ehlers, if you will tice over?

Mr. Ehlers. [Presiding] Mr. Hinojosa?

Mr. Hinojosa. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I would like to request permission to submit
my prepared remarks for the record and allow me the five minuteS that I have to be able
to have a dialogue with some of the members of the panel.

Mr. Ehlers. Without objection, so ordered. 1

Mr. Hinojosa. Thank you.

WRITTEN STATEMENT OF REPRESENTATIVE RUBEN HINOJOSA, .

COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION AND THE WORKFORCE, U.S. HOUSE OF
REPRESENTATIVES, WASHINGTON, DCSEE APPENDIX H
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M. Hinojosa. I am sorry that I was not able to hear all of the presenteis, but those whom
I did hear certainly joggled my mind and ideas that have gone through my head as to how
I could utilize some of this valuable information that you are giving us about the
importance of literacy, the importance of reading, the importance of parental
involvement, the importance of trained teachers.

But I am going to direct my first comments to Jackie Martino, and the reason that
I do that, Jackie, is that in the studies that have been brought to us here at the education
committee, trying to find ways in which we can get all students to graduate from high
school at least at 97 percent, and I am talking of the children who start in first grade, at
least have 97 percent graduate from high school, and then have access to community
college education or four-year universities and post-graduate studies.

And we are told that the way to do that is that we have to start from zero to five
and really, really bear down and put the resources and all the exemplary models that
work. And you spoke about your training on Early Start and Even Start programs and so
my question is those who teach at those early years of zero to five, do the teachers have
training and do they have a Bachelor's degree in education or do they have an associate
degree? What type of education do those exemplary programs have for those teachers?

Ms. Martino. Well, the teachers that are involved in the Even Start program in York
have Bachelor's in education, early elementary education. We have our Bachelor's but
we also continue our education in different workshops and trainings.

One of my beliefs is that children learn as individuals. I teach as individuals. I do
not happen to have a classroom that has 30 children in it; I have a classroom that might
have 10 or 15. Therefore, I at least take five or ten minutes to work with children each
day, to work with them at their own capacity.

Mr. Hinojosa. Next question. Where does the funding come from? Does it come from
the education agency or does it come from HHS?

Ms. Neifert. It comes from the federal government Even Start program, in coordination
with Title I and local funds from both the school district and the community.

Mr. Hinojosa. So then, it falls under the umbrella of the school district and that is why
you have Bachelor's degrees.

Ms. Martino. Right.

Mr. Hinojosa. And you have many of the services that are available to our children in K
through 12.

Are you familiar, then, with Head Start?

Ms. Martino. Yes. Yes, I am.

Mr. Hinojosa. And the same question I would ask on Head Start. Do those teachers
have a Bachelor's degree or something different?
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Ms. Martino. You know, I am not sure of that. I am sure that, I do know some Head
Start teachers that do have Bachelor's degrees..

Mr. Hinojosa. Okay. Because we had hearings here on Head Start and we had field
hearings, in fact, we had a field hearing in my congressional district in south Texas which
is from San Antonio to McAllen in the southern part of Texas, and to my:dim-fay, many_
of the teachers only had certificates of completion which can be.done in six weeks and
that.was the extent of the preparation. .

And so it makes me feel very frustrated that we are not reaching all the eligible
children especially from low income families who are eligible for the Head Start program
and for Even Start and, secondly, it is frustrating for me to hear that the rules do not
require that they have the kind of training of at least a bachelor's so that the children can
be school-ready.

. ,

All of this to say that with all of the reauthorization that occurrecI here two years
ago on Head Start, the best we could do was to get a minimum of 50 percent of all those. r
who teach in Head Start to have an Associate degree, not even a Bachelor's.

So then my final question to.you,-then,,Jackie,-would be is there support in the' .
community nationwide to maybe rethink on having all these Early Start pregrams, Even
Start, Head Start, under the education umbrella rather than HHS, which obviously does
not have those requirements that would have trained teachers?

Ms. Martino. I would think as a teacher if you are working with students, any student,
that you should have some education, that you should have your bachelor's, and that you
are able to bring your experience to the child, because you cannot teach a child.if you do
not know. . . :

One of the ladies down there said something abodt_or,.I do not know, maybe it
was Chairman Goodling who said something about knowing how ro read, you can teach,. .
but that is not true. I agree with that. We do need some experience and we do need some
training and we do need to go to a college and get that.

Mr. Hinojosa. Thank you.

Mr. Chairman, my time has run out and I thank you:

Mr. Ehlers. The gentleman'slithe has expired. .

I would just like to comment, Mr. Hinojosa, in response to your question, the Lin
Bill, which is the literacy bill which we just passed through theHouie.last week,.does in
fact increase the standards for Even Start, precisely what you were seeking to do. We
have made progress along that line already. ,

Mr. Hinojosa. Mr..Chairman, may I interrupt you? Is there any talk in our leidership
about the possibility of at least reconsidering moving the Head Start program from HHS
to the education agency so that we can have the certified teachers as Jackie was just
telling us on Even Start? . Because it is under the public school system? .
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Mr. Ehlers. I am afraid I cannot answer that question. I would suggest you request that
information from someone who would know.

Mr. Hinojosa. Thank you.

Mr. Ehlers. Thank you.

I would also like to comment to the young woman in the audience who responded
to the question, for the purposes of the transcript, after the hearing, would you please
notify the reporter of your full name and your background so that we have that in the
record as well?

Next, we turn to Mr. Payne.

Mr. Payne. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I apologize to the panel for not being
here to hear any of your testimony. I have been browsing through some of it here. But I
do commend you for your interest in literacy.

As a matter of fact, right across the hall, there was a hearing with young people,
several young children and adults from a country called Sierra Leone and there was a
little girl, probably maybe the age of the young lady here, probably a little younger, who
just said that_of course, as you know, the brutal rebel group used amputation of limbs to
intimidate the people of that country, and there were several girls her age or younger who
had no hands. And one of them just said I just wish I could go to school. So I just
through I would mention that.

I certainly think that the whole question of literacy is extremely important. Back
in 1990, when we had legislation that members could have other members become co-
sponsors, you could bring a bill to the floor by getting co-sponsors in 1990 and on, up
until 1994, when the practice was eliminated by the new majority. We were able to get a
national literacy bill which designated January 2nd as National Literacy Day and I do not
know if any of you have been around that long in literacy, but we made a big fanfare and
actually it was in 1990 when I was_the reason I mention it, of course, I was the prime
sponsor and I was the one that got those other 229 people to sign a piece of paper in the
House. One way to get to know other members is to have a resolution like that because
you have to go up to each individual and ask them would you please come on my
legislation. But it was important because the president at that time, President Bush,
signed the literacy bill into law and so it has been an area that I have had a tremendous
amount_at that time, we said that there were 30 million Americans who lacked basic
reading skills. I am sure that at this time the number has probably doubled because we
have immigrants coming in, we have still failures in our school system.

I am a former educator before I decided to get into government, and so I know the
problems that we face. I taught in secondary school and was disappointed at the quality
of student when they got to seeondary school, so I decided to go down into the middle
school system and was just as frustrated when I was there and then went to elementary
school. So, I do not know, I guess I would be in school right now. But I do know that it
is a real challenge that we have. New Jersey has come up with some kind of
innovative_it is the Abba decision, where the courts have said that every school district
must be evenly funded. We also now have mandatory three and four-year-olds in school
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with a certified teacher in the classroom. ' t

I think that it is good to move the teachers who are not degreed into degrees. I do
feel they should have an opportunity to have that done over a course of five or six years;
if they do not have a degree, that they should work towards a degree and not just to .

terminate anyonewho has been in child careorday care and are not,certified to teach, but_
that they should then go into teaching.to become certified. .,

Although the governor and the state, legislature is very annoyed at the courts,
saying that every child is entitled to a thorough and efficient education and therefore the
Abba decisions had to be funded by the state government, and there is a school building
program th,.: also is apart of that courtslecision by the New Jersey supreme court. .

So it might be something that other states may. look- into because it is kind of , .
revolutionizing the inequity in education, the fact that if you have a higher-funded school,.,,
district. .That is one reason why vouchers are so popular or are becoming more popular in
innercities, because there is so,rnuch frustration in the,school,system that people are ;

saying let me try anything else: But many of my colleagues have said about vouchers in
inner cities, youchers do.not sell in their districts because the education is excellent and
they do not want to change it. So my answer generally is why don't we make education
excellent everywhere and we won't have to have vouchers;for education, which is, I .

think, the:backbone oLthis country. But when people become sofrustrated, they look to
almost anything. .

I just have a quick question regarding Dr: Langenberg. The question of phonics
as relates to this whole language business, I just did see a little bit of your testimony:
You know, teaching reading_and I guess anybody could try to answer it_is it really that
we're able to take teachers and really make them proficient,in teaching reading by a
scientific method or some sound method that is_even if it takes in several kinds of
systems? . . -

Do you feel that that is really an attainable, measurable goal that can be achieved?

Dr. Langenberg. I do and I think it is possible. We expect that routinely of physicians,
and I think we should expect it routinely of teachers.

Mr. Payne. Thank you.

Yes, ma'am?

Mrs. Barret. I was going to say that at our school, we started with just two first grade
classrooms and as our enrollment grew, now a eighth, first-grade teacher will be hired
this week, actually. We have watched it grow, training those teachers. As I said in my
testimony, people that learned whole language did not learn how to systematically put it
together. We are having great success. Our second grade teachers are amazed at how
well these children do. Now, they can really, before they were learning to read; now they
can read to learn at second grade. Many of these second grade teachers came from other

-schools where they are teaching the kids to read because they could not read. We can
always tell children who have come from other areas whose teachers are not trained
properly. It is very attainable.
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Mr. Payne. Thank you very much. I really will read your material. I once again
apologize for not hearing your testimony.

I would like to commend Ms. Brandon for, I did not hear what you said, but I
certainly can commend you for your discipline. I have a grandson about your age, I am
not so sure he would be sitting there as nice and as calm as you are. Therefore, I would
just like to congratulate you and, of course, your parents. Thank you.

Mr. Ehlers. The gentleman's time has expired. Sometimes it is even hard for us to sit that
long.

I want to thank all the witnesses. It was excellent testimony and very helpful to
us in our work. We in the Congress are not experts on every aspect. We learn from each
of you every time we have a hearing, it has been a very helpful hearing, and I certainly
want to thank all of you for coming.

I should also note for the record that I believe this is the first time in the history of
the U.S. Congress that an education committee hearing has been chaired by a rocket
scientist and a nuclear physicist, even if for a short time. I would also comment just out
of human interest that Dr. Langenberg and I, our paths have crossed over the years. We
were fellow students together at Berkeley, University of California. We both received
our Ph.D.s approximately the same time and, in fact, he did his research in the lab right
next door to the lab in which I was doing my research.

So it is a pleasure to have you again, Dr. Langenberg, and to once again renew
our friendship.

With that, I declare the hearing adjourned.

[Whereupon, at 11:40 a.m., the committee was adjourned.]
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OPENING REMARKS

THE HONORABLE BILL GOODLING

CHAIRMAN

COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION AND THE WORKFORCE

HEARING ON

"THE IMPORTANCE OF LITERACY"

SEPTEMBER 26, 2000

I want to welcome you to today's hearing. The.topic of this

hearing, ."The Importance of Liteeacy," is one that is neat and dear to my.

heart.

In my view, there is no more crucial issue fading this nation than

illiteracy. There axe far too many individuals who cannot read or write

or cannot read or write well. According to the National Adult Literacy

Survey, soine 40 to 44 million of the 191 million adults in the United

States demonstrate the lowest basic literacy skills and approximately 50

million adults have skills on the next higher level of proficiency.

(45)
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What is worse is that the next generation of illiterate adults is

currently in classrooms across this country. According to the latest

reading results of the National Assessment of Educational Progress

(NAEP) there are a large number of children who are falling through the

cracks who do not even have a basic understanding of what they read.

In many cases, it is because their teacher was never taught to teach

reading correctly. In other instances, children are having difficulties

because their parents are illiterate and are unable to help them with their

school work.

How is our nation going to continue to be a world leader if we do

not have a well-educated and well-trained workforce? How can we

allow so many individuals to fall through the cracks simply because they

are illiterate? My response is, "We cannot."

During my years in Congress, I have worked to ensure that a wide

range of federal education programs address problems related to

illiteracy.
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Those programs include the Even Start Family. Literacy Program,

the Adult Education and Family Literacy Act, the Reading Excellence

Act, Title 1, and Head Start. Several of, today's witnesses can testify to

the merits of these programs. . !

It is, however, no secret that I believe literacy programs that

involve the whole family, such as Even Start, provide the best possible

solutions to our problem. Parents are the key to a child's academic

success. We must ensure that parents have the literacy skills they

require to be their child's first and most important teacher. By working

with parents and their children at the same time, we are breaking cycles

of illiteracy and ensuring that entire families have the literacy skills they

need to lead productive lives.

We must also ensure that we have well qualified teachers in the

classroom who have been trained to teach reading using instructional

programs based on scientifically based reading research. Too oftenour

nation's schools have adopted fly-by-night "fad" programs for teaching

reading, with disastrous results.
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In the 105th Congress, we enacted the Reading Excellence Act,

which can end this practice and ensure our nation's children are

receiving the best possible reading instruction.

I look forward to receiving the testimony of today's witnesses.
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Septembei 26, 2000

Committee on Education and the Workforce
US. House of Representatives

Statement of Donald N. Langenberg, Chancellor
University System of Maryland

Introduction .

Thank you Mr. Chairman and members of the committee. I am Donald Langenberg. I was privileged to

serve as Chairman of the National Reading Panel (NRp) from April 19,9,8 to April 2000. I would like to

present to you this morning an overview of the Panel's findings and recommendations.

I haye submitted written testimony Mr. Chairman, which I will summarize for,you to allow ample time

for questions.

The NRP represented a wide variety of academic disciplines and occupations in education.i, It included

parents and grandparents, teachers, professors of education and psychology, school and uniyersity

administrators, a pediatrician, and an attorney. I myself am a professor of physics and the Chancellor of

the thirteert-instimtion Urnyersity System of Maryland. We all shared the common, goal of improving the

teaching and learMng of reading all across our nation.

Congress' Charge to the Panel

The Congress gave the Panel a very specific task:

I. Assess the status of research-based knowledge, including the effectiveness of various approaches

to teaching children to read.

2. Report an indication of the readiness for application in the classroom of the results of this

research.

(51)
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3. Report, if appropriate, a strategy for rapidly disseminating this information to facilitate effective

reading instruction in schools.

4. Recommend, if found warranted, a plan for additional research regarding early reading

development and instruction.

Panel's Approach

The research literature on reading includes over 100,000 studies published since 1966, and an additional

15,000 or so published before that. It was impossible for the panel to read all of the literature and respond

to the Congress in a timely manner. Choices had to be made about how to proceed. It is in the wisdom of

those choices that the success of the Panel's work lies.

First, we identified a set of topics of central importance in teaching children to read. We were aided by a

report of the National Research Council, Preventing Reading Difficulties in Young Children. The Panel

refined its selection using information from public hearings held in five major cities across the country.

The topics the Panel studied intensively were:

1. Alphabetics, including phonemic awareness instruction and phonics instruction.

2. Fluency.

3. Comprehension, including vocabulary instruction, text comprehension instruction, and teacher

preparation and comprehension strategies instruction.

4. Teacher education and reading instruction.

5. Computer technology and reading instruction.



Adoption of Methodological Standard!

In what may be the Panel's most important action, it developed a set of rigorous methodological standards

to screen the research literature relevant to each topic. These standards are essentially those normally

used in medical and behavioral research to assess the efficacy of behavioral interventions, medications or
-

medical procedures.

Highlights

The findings of the Panel's subgroups are presented in detail in their reports and are summarized in the
, . .

Report of the National Reading Panel. Let me touch on just four of the highlights.

First, the Panel found that certain instructional methods gg better than others, and that many of the more

effective methods are ready for implementation in the classroom. For example, there was overwhelming

evidence that systematic phonics instruction enhances children's success in learning to read and that such

instruction is significantly more effective than instruction that teaches little or no phonics.

Second, literacy instruction can and should be provided to all children beginning in kindergarten. To

become good readers, children must develop phonemic awareness, phonics skills, the ability to read

words in text in an accurate and fluent manner, and the ability to apply comprehension strategies

consciously and deliberately as they read. Children at risk of reading failure especially require direct and

systematic instruction in these skills, and that instruction should be provided as early ns possible. Such

instruction should be integrated with the entire kindergarten experience in order to optimize the students'

social and emotional development.
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Third, research on this critical subject must stand up to critical, scientific scrutiny. No reputable

physician would normally subject a patient to a treatment or a drug whoseefficacy had not been proven in

rigorous scientific testing. We should expect no less of a teacher subjecting a student to curricular content

or a teaching methodology. Without the necessary, proven knowledge base, we can expect our schools to

continue to be besieged by education fads and nostrums.

Finally, and most importantly, teachers are key! They must know how children learn to read, why some

children have difficulty learning to read, and how to identify and implement effective instructional

approaches for different children. They must learn to judge the quality of research literature and use it to

develop curricula and teaching methods based on the most scientifically rigorous studies. To help them

perform their critical role, teachers should be provided extensive preservice and inservice training in a

variety of instruction techniques.

Need for More Research

The Report of the National Reading Panel is certainly valuable for identifying what is reliably known

about early reading development and instruction. It is equally valuable for identifying what we do not

know, and thus for what we need to discover through future research.

As an example, today, information technology is transforming education of all kinds and at all levels. If

we have a machine that can recognize speech and convert it to text and vice versa, or analyze and

critique grammar, punctuation, and syntax, or interact with students in other ways, it is plausible that it

might be a useful tool in the teaching and learning of reading. Understandably, given the newness of the

technology, there is very little solid research that tests that hypothesis. There ought to be more much

more in this virgin and little-explored field.
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Much of the Nast reading research literature consists of qualitative, descriptive, and correlational studies.

These do haveyalue..Theyhelp us to Understand the generainature of a problem and to form

scientifically testable hypotheses about learning mechanisms and pedagogical techniques. But correlation

is not causation! We cannot separate truth from conjecture, or distinguish what really.works from what

might work, without scientifically rigorous experimental or quasi-experimental research of the kind on

which the Panel focussed.

Conclusion

Let me conclude with a couple of personal observations.

I learned a great deal from my fellow Panel members in the course of our work, and my perspective on

our subject has changed dramatically. There is a recent report entitled Teaching Reading Is Rocket

Science. I think that is a gross underestimate. As an experimental physicist, I've done a lot of things akin

to rocket science. I now believe that the teaching and learning of reading is much more complex and

difficult.

Our fundamental understanding of the human brain and the mind it embodies is quite rudimentary. So is

our understanding of how to translate what we do know into effective teaching and learning. But I am

optimistic about the future. I am reminded of the long, slow development of our understanding of the

quantum nature of the universe in the early twentieth century, led by Einstein, Bohr, Schroedinger,

Heisenberg, and others. By the end of the twentieth century, application of that understanding had led to

the information technology revolution thii.t is now explosively transforming our world and our lives. I

hope and expect that the twenty-first century will bring us a comparable understanding of our own minds

and of how best to develop them.
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Mr. Chairman, you and your Congressional colleagues, in essence, asked our Panel to help save our

nation from illiteracy. I am proud the Panel's response to that daunting cliarge. We did not come up with

any simple "silver bullet" because none exists. But we did create, I believe, a landmark contribution to

our knowledge about teaching children to read.

Now, I would be pleased to respond to your questions.

59



57

Committee on Education and the Workforce
Witness Disclosure Requirement "Truth in Testimony"

Required,by House Ruk XI, Clause 2(g)

Your Namc: .,

. .

1. Are you testifying on behalf of a Federal, State, or Local Governmental
entity?

Yes
x

No

2. Are you testifying on behalf of an entity other than a Government entity? Yes No
x

3. Please list any federal grants or contracts (including subgrants or ... _

subcontracts) which you have received since October 1, 1997:

..

0'4

4. Other than yourself, please list what entity or entities you are representing:

..
National Reading Panel

5. If your answer to question number 2 is yes, please list any offices or elected
positions held or briefly describe your representational capacity with the .

.. ,

entities 'disclosed iti question number 4: .. . .

6. If your answer to question number 2 is yes, do any of the entities disclosed
in question number 4 have parent organizations, subsidiaries, or partnerships
to the entities for whom you are not representing?

Yes No

7. If the answer to question number 2 is yes, please list any federalgrants or
connacts (including subgrants or subcontracts) which were received by the
entities listed under question 4 since October 1, 1997, including the source
and amount of each grant or contact:

;

S''pante:-

Please attach this sheet lo yews written testimony
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PERSONAL INFORMATION: Please provide the committee with a copy of your resume (or
a curriculum vitae) or just answer the following questions:

A. Please list any employment, occupation, or work related experiences, and education or
. training which relate to your qualifications to testify on or knowledge ofthe subject matter of

the hearing:

Chairman, National Reading Panel

Bio attached

B. Please provide any other information you wish to convey to the Committee which might aid
the members of the Committee to understand better the context of your testimony:

Bio attached

Please attach to your written testimony
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DONALD N. LANGENBEliG. .

University of Maryland System
3300 Metzerott Road Baltimore, Mu 21208
Adelphi, MD 20783

VOICE: (301) 445-1901
FAX: (301)445-1931
E-MAIL: dnl@usmh.usmd.eau

Donald N. Langenberg was educated at Iowa State University (B.S.), the University of California,
Los Angeles (M.S.), and the University of California, Berkeley (Ph.D.). All his earned degrees
are in physics. He also holds honorary degrees (M.A. and D.Sc.) from the University Of
Pennsylvania."

. .
.

After a postdoetoral year at Oxford University, Dr. Langenberg joined the faculty Of the
University of Pennsylvania in 1960, as Assistant Professor of Physics. He held the rank of
Professor of Physics from 1967 to 1983, and had a secondary appointment as Professor of
Electrical Engineering and Science frOm 1976 io 1983While at Penn, he served as DirectOr Of
the Labotatory for Research on the Structure ,of Matter, (an interdisciplinary materials research , ,-
laboratory),and as Vice Provoit for Gradriate Studies and ReSearch. .

In July,1980, President Jimmy Carter,appointed Dr. Langenberg DeputY' Director of the National
Science Foundation. He served in that pOsition through December, 1982, and served also as.
Acting Director of the Foundation during the first six months of his tenure.

;
In 1983, Dr. Langenberg became Chancellor of the University of Illinois at Chicago (UIC), where
he also held the tank of Professor of Physics.

On July 1, 1990, Dr. Langenberg became Chancellor of the University System of Maryland.. The
System Comprises eleven degree-granting institinions and twO research and Service units.

. .
.

,

Dr. Langenberg's research was in experiment.al condensed matter physics andmaterials science:
His earliest research Was concerned with the electronic properties and Fermi surfaces of metals
and degenerate semiconductori: AMajor partof his research career was devoted to the study of
superconductivity, particularly the Josephson effects and nonequilibrium superconductivitY. He is
perhaps best known for his work on the determination of certain fundamental physical constants
using the ae Josephson effect. A practical consequence of this work was the development of a
radically new type of voltage standatil which is noW in use around the world..One of the major
publications reiniting froni this work is among the most frequently cited Paperi Published by the
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Reviews of Modern Physiclduring the 1955-86 period, and has been dubbed a "citation classic."
The work has also been recognized by the award to Dr. Langenberg and his co-workers of the
John Price Wetherill Medal of the Franklin Institute.

Dr. Langenberg is the author or co-author of over one hundred papers and articles, and has edited
several books.

Dr. Langenberg has held predoctoral and postdoctoral fellowships from the National Science
Foundation, the Alfred P. Sloan Foundation, and the John Simon Guggenheim Foundation. He
has been a visiting professor or researcher at Oxford University, the Ecole Normale Superieure,
the California Institute of Technology, and the Technische Universitat Munchen. In addition to
the Wetherill Medal, he has been awarded the Distinguished Contribution to Research
Administration Award of the Society of Research Administrators, the Distinguished Achievement
Citation of the Iowa State University Alumni Association, and the Significant Sig Award of the
Sigma Chi Fraternity. He holds honorary doctorates from the University of Pennsylvania and the
State University of New York.

Dr. Langenberg has served as advisor or consultant to a variety of universities, industrial firms,
and governmental agencies. He currently serves on the Board of Directors of the Alfred P. Slban
Foundation and the Board of Trustees of the University of Pennsylvania. He is President of the
National Association of System Heads (NASH) and Chairman of the Presidents' Council of the
Association of Governing Boards of Universities and Colleges (AGB). He is a member of the
Business-Higher Education Forum, a partnership of the American Council on Education and the
National Alliance of Business intended to foster communication among national business and
education leaders. He has been President and Chairman of the Board of the American
Association for the Advancement of Science (AAAS), Chairman of the Board of the National
Association of State Universities and Land-Grant Colleges (NASULGC), and President of the
American Physical Society (APS).

Dr. Langenberg is a nationally recognized leader in higher education issues, particularly K-16
education partnerships and information technology as a revolutionary change agent in higher
education. He was appointed chairman of the National Reading Panel (NRP) in 1998 by the U.S.
Department of Education and the National Institute of Child Health and Human Development.
The NRP is studying the effectiveness of various approaches to teaching children how to read and
reporting on the best ways of applying its findings in the classroom and the home.

Dr. Langenberg was born March 17, 1932, in Devils Lake, North Dakota. Since 1953 he has
been married to the former Patricia Warrington, who is currently Professor of Biostatistics at the
University of Maryland, Baltimore. They have four children: Karen, a marketing executive; Julia,
a veterinarian; John, a physician; and Amy, a graduate student. Dr. Langenberg's avocational
interests include photography, history, and travel; he has visited or resided on all seven continents.

8/16/99
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Lessons from

THE NICHD EARLY INTERVENTIONS PROJECT

In the District of Columbia Public Schools

First, I wish to thank Mr. Goodling for the opportunity to speak to this committee. I

know first hand, day to day, what a difference the investment of Congress has made in our ability

to reach and teach children in the District of Columbia. Congress' support of reading research,

Congress' support of the Reading Excellence Act, and the leadership of key officials in

government who support high quality teacher preparation are making a significant difference in

our schools.

The National Institute of Child Health and Human Development (NICHD) funds an

extensive research program to understand how children learn to read, why some children fail to

learn to read, and what can be done to prevent reading failure. We have been working in nine

low-performing schools for more than three years under one of the NICHD grants. Dr. Barbara

Foorman in Houston and Dr. Louisa Moats in DC are the directors of this project. Dr. Moats and

I work daily to instruct and support teachers as we gather extensive data on the causes of reading

success and reading failure.

This has been very hard work. In the beginning, teachers were frustrated, demoralized,

and skeptical. They blamed the children, their families, their instructional materials, and each

other for the fact that over 70% of the 4th grade children in DC scored below basic on the

National Assessment of Educational Progress. We had to prove to the teachers that we were

offering them something more than superficial ideas, empty promises, or worthless gimmicks.
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Indeed, we had to persiladeteacherito learn a lot.of nevi and'sometitheichallinging inforination

and to try out neW method.

. ''OVer theSe fonr );eais, feacheri hiie'filen to the oeCision. Mcirelhan half have taken

graduate courses with us; those Who Stud}, 'and iend io get the best reiults With their

students: ,Mlany teichers have 'seen:ilimiediate indtramatic'iniroVement in their clasies When

they% apPlY reseathh-based metinils:A verY imPortant focus of coursework has been in-depth

study of phoneme awareneas, phonics, and the structureof the English language. Another hai

been role-play and rehearsal of new teaching strategies, including questioning strategies designed

to deepen comprehension. We have provided books and materials to them. Teams of teachers

have collaborated with each other. .Observers and coacheshave been in classrooms, to help and

instruct: Principals have been involved and inforined. We knew when we began that with well:

.z
designed materials, effective building leadership, and strong professional development based on

reading research, we could reverse the tide of reading failure.

Now, in yearfour, we are proud of the changes we have accomplished. Seven of the nine

schools hae thet or inost Of their ithprOvement targets. The firslir:ade at SeatOn Elementary

School, whose lead teacher is.with me today, thoWed in average leading achieVement score

abOve the .70th percentile oh the Stanford-9 AchieVement Test last year. :Only 5 to 10% of .

children are below basic in grades where the instruction is strong. In many schools, teachers have

commented that they see the difference in students who are now,going into,third,and,fourt

grade. They can read! Our researckdata are showing that atthe end of thesecond gradein 1999,

our students on the whole were achieving slightly above the national average.in reading. .

comprehension. The students who had received the most explicit training in phonological skills
- ..

'

were well above averagein basic reading and spelling.
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Once again, the research is showing that students who are taught early (in K and lit)

about the speech sounds in words and who are taught phonics, reading fluency, and

comprehension, make better progress than children who do not get the best instruction. I have

brought one of these students with me today, who would like to read to you. is now

in rd grade at Seaton Elementary. She had the benefit of research-based instniction. I am also

accompanied by her kindergarten teacher, Mary Hailes, who is here to answer questions for the

committee.

Recommendations for Policymakers and Education Leadership

As national leaders seek to implement standards-based reforms and raise student achievement, it

is important to give attention to the specific literacy needs of children and the training needs of

their teachers. Following are recommendations for policymakers to consider as they focus

attention on adequate support for teacher training and professional development in the area of

literacy.

1. Maintain the goal of ensuring that all children will read at grade level and promote the

importance of research-based reading instruction

2. Align policies for teacher preparation, licensure, and professional development with

principles of effective reading instruction.

3. Align textbook adoption policies, student performance standards, assessment priorities,

and curricular policies with principles of effective reading instruction.

Research has confirmed beyond doubt that good instruction can prevent or limit serious reading

and writing difficulty. Most children will learn if instruction includes critical components

beginning in kindergarten. Referrals to special education will decline if children are properly
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screened and tught in the regular classroom beginning in kindergarten and grade one. Struggling

children will be more likely to maintain momentum if they are placed in tutorials with trained

specialists even before a special education referral occurs. When schools abide by these

principles, very few children fail to read. Policymakers can help schools focus attention on the

issues and can provide the necessary support for effective teacher preparation and professional

development.
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GOOD MORNING. MY NAME IS MIKEA a. BRANDON., I:

AM EIGHT yEARS OLD. ATTEND SEATON ELEMENTARY

SCHOOL IN WASHINGTON, D.C. AND I AM IN THIRD GRADE.

WHY READING IS IMPORTANT TO ME. READING IS

IMPORTANT TO ME BECAUSE AS A LITTLE PERSON, I AM QUITE

CURIOUS AND I NEED TO KNOW WHAT IS GOING ON IN MY

WORLD.

BEING 'ABLE TO READ ALLOWS ME TO BE ABLE TO DO

THINGS FOR MYSELF AND NOT HAVE ANYONE TO READ TO ME.

BEING ABLE TO READ HAS TAUGHT ME THAT THERE ARE MANY

THINGS ABOUT THE WORLD THAT I WANT TO LEARN. BEING

ABLE TO READ GIVES ME THE CHANCE TO SEE THE. WORLD

THROUGH MY OWN EYES AND NOT SOMEONE ELSE'S. ALSO

-BEING ABLE TO READ ALLOWS ME TO FORM MY OWN OPINIONS

AS I GROW UP.

I LIKE TO READ BECAUSE IT ALLOWS ME TO USE MY

IMAGINATION AND FANTASIZE ABOUT WHAT I WOULD LIKE IN

MY LIFE. ALSO, I LIKE TO READ BECAUSE I AM ABLE TO

COMPREHEND AND PASS MY TESTS.IN SCHOOL SO THAT I CAN

BE PROMOTED TO THE NEXT GRADE. I ENJOY READING ABOUT

(71)
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THE DIFFERENT ADVENTURES WITH VARIOUS CHARACTERS IN

BOOKS, LIKE MY GOOD FRIENDS ARTHUR, BARBIE, AND HARRY

POTTER.

BEING ABLE TO READ IS SO MUCH FUN. THANK YOU.
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COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION IN THE WORKFORCE
FIVE MINUTE SPEECH

BY PAM BARRET
9-26-00

As a first grade teacher at Tovashal Elementary School, wife of a
high school special education teacher and mother of five children
ranging from the sixth grade to college, I have had a variety of
experiences that have helped me to arrive at my conclusions about
successful reading instruction.

I am not a rocket scientist so I couldn't begin to put someone in
space, but you don't have to be a rocket scientist to launch a child
on an academic course of achievement that will enable him or her
to reach their highest potential.

The process doesn't cost hundreds of thousands of dollars. It does
take hard work, patience, perseverance, courage and use of a
curriculum that follows the current research on how children learn
to read.

In my opinion, based on the performance of my students and
students of the teachers that I have trained, when students are
systematically taught to read fluently by the end of first grade, they
have the greatest chance of being successful students in later years.

It is so obvious to me how we can solve the educational crisis we
face in this country. But you must understand that there are
administrators and teachers who have not learned the proper
method of teaching reading. Some do not want to change and
others let their egos stand in the way. You would think colleges
and universities would be leading the charge to effectively train
new teachers, but this is slow in happening.

Just last year Jenelle Eady, a first year teacher, was hired at our
school. I had the thrill of training her to teach first grade. Fresh out
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of college she had learned to teach whole language not phonics.
She bravAi,put nthe *bile langnage Method behind her and was
willing t6 learn tO teach phOnicS. By jrear's end all of Jerielle'S
studentS learned to read arid Passed our district's literacy
assessment. Jenelle is a glowing success story and is confidently
helping to train two new teachers this year on-our first gradeleam:

But lin:a:gine the teachers wild' have*beerf teaching for years. These
good"peOple were trained ihwhole language,.a miserable
experiMent that taught Children to gueds at words by 'looking at
picture's and-cues instad`of "sounding-out" WOrds 'as' in PhOnies
instruction. Change for them was difficult; They believed the lidS
that whole language would enable children to be life long lovers of
learning and authendc'literature;itistead many Oftheirstudents,
slipped-throiigh the'crackdnot reaching their potential: They Sit in
our natidn's'elemenary, middle and high schools aS well aS
reniedial college English claSses toda. They aon't loVe iearnini or
readingobecanse YOU CAN'T LOVE LEAR.ING 'OR READING
IF YOU CAN'T READ!

, - ,

I don't fault theSe dediCated teachers and adniinistrators becauSe
they were.only teaching what they Were taught to teach, HoWever,
I do fault educators tdday who refuse th-charige and Who disregard
the current research and proven programs. Sadly:there are 'still
those in the state of California and the nation who are in a state of
denial.

The reflection I share with you today is not Only My story, but
parallels the experiences'of many Ainericans across this land. Like '-
me, they have been in the tienches fighting on hehalf of literacy.

. .., -.
Recently, I Spent,the day' with a Panel of teachers froni several
districts in California. As we shared our storied we were amized,
change the names and faces and the testimonials Were siinilar:
Each district had a grassroots goup of parents and teachers,
spanning the political spectrum, who realized that student§ were
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floundering. When we approached our districts with concerns, the
response from district officials and other teachers was almost
scripted. We were dismissed as uninformed non-educators.

My own daughter was a whole language victim. Five years ago
when I asked administators why she couldn't write a paragraph on
a topic using correct spelling, grammar and punctuation, I was told
that the children now have "spell check" and were learning to be
creative authors. I responded with another question, "What if they
want to be editors?" I was then instructed to let the professional
educators handle it.

But you see I was a professional educator! I received my teaching
credential in 1977. I taught and tutored students for years using
phonics and so I knew that something was terribly wrong. Even
though I volunteered daily at my children's school, campaigned for
school construction bonds, was honored by the PTA and
nominated for citizen of the year, I became public enemy number
one when I raised concerns about the lack of student literacy in our
local schools. So we kept pointing to the research. It continuously
revealed that the solution was systematic, explicit instruction.
Soon more parents, as well as our local school board members,
were supporting phonics.

Concurrently, Tovashal Elementary School opened in 1996. Under
the leadership of Principal Chuck Jones, I was hired as a first grade
teacher and we were allowed to pilot Open Court, a successful
phonics based language arts program. Tovashal's first grade and
kindergarten scores that year were too high to be ignored. Our
District then adopted Open Court in kindergarten, first grade and a
portion of second grade. Teachers eventually came around as they
saw their students succeed using phonics. Nothing breeds success
like success itself

I believe in my heart that you too want our nation's students to
reach their highest potential in order to be productive citizens. We
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'must keep thespotlight on.literacy and make it our highest
We can't have the pendulum swing back to the days of unproven
methods. Our children's education and the nation's future are at
stake:-

. ,

At ToVashal we ask-our first graderiVvhat readers *pine. They:
confidently sholit,."Reaciiis become leaders!" I would like to
extend an invitation_to each of you to visit our campusand see
some real success,stories and hear some future leaders read:

q'

'7:47.
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COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION AND THE WORKFORCE-TESTIMONY BY PAM BARRET

As a first grade teacher at Tovashal Elementary School, wife of a high
school special education teacher and mother of five children ranging from
the sixth grade to college, I have had a variety of experiences that have
helped me to arrive at my conclusions about successful reading instruction.

I am not a rocket scientist so I couldn't begin to put someone in space, but
you don't have to be a rocket scientist to launch a child on an academic
course of achievement that will enable him or her to reach their lighest
potential. I have personally witnessed high achievers reach greater heights,
average students exceed grade level expectations and low or at risk students
reach grade level standards or above.

The process doesn't cost hundreds of thousands of dollars. It does take hard
work, patience, perseverance, courage and use of a curriculum that follows
the current research on how children learn to read.

Successful reading instruction is not hard to duplicate. I have trained
numerous parents as well as teachers in phonics instruction. There have
been many parents without college degrees or even high school diplomas
who have learned how to successfully help children become readers. My
own children have attended these training sessions as well.

My son, Adam, a junior in high school, could probably take over my
classroom because he understands the step-by-step process of effective
reading instruction. Now his career goal is to be a first grade teacher after
college. My ninth grade daughter, Ashlee, tutored a special education
student in reading by using the methods she learned at our phonics training
sessions. Because of her success with this student, she plans to become a
special education teacher.

It is important to remember that proper reading instruction must be taught
like any other complex skill such as learning how to play a musical
instrument, drive a car, or swing a golf club properly. Skills must be taught
systematically (in an orderly fashion from simple to complex). Skills must
also be taught explicitly, or directly.

In order to read, the student must learn phonics, which is the sound to
symbol association and the skill of blending these sounds together to make a
word. In addition, they need to understand phonemic awareness, which is
the ability to hear sounds within a spoken word, and to understand that the
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sounds correspond to letters. This is a vital precursor to phonics. When
children lack thisflnderstanding-they must be taught to orally segment as
well as orally blend sounds. Students must also be taught to orally
distinguish initial, medial and final sounds in words. Rhyming is another
skill that must be mastered. Allphonemic awarenessis done through
activities without the printed symbols.,

As children are beginning to blend soundstogether to form words, they must
practice and apply decoding through the use of carefully controlled
decodable text. A decodable text contains words that are comprised of letter
sounds that the ,child has previously been taught. Although these decodable
passages aren't what one might consider classic literature, the children enjoy
them and gain confidence. Because they can sound out the words on their
own by continually blending the letters, they begin to read in an automatic
and fluid manner.

Comprehension is taught simultanegusly,as the teacher reads,classic
literature, frequently asking questions and engaging the children in _ .

meaningful discussions regarding characterization, setting, andplot. -By the
end of the school year the children are reading and comprehending rich
literature.

In contrast, whole language does not teach phonics systematically nor .

directly., Words are attempted as a whole. The,heginning step_ of teaching
letter sounds and blending them into syllables is not taught. When a student
comes to a word they don't..know they are given 7cues" such as the.
beginning or ending sounds,Jhey are encouraged.to guess the middle part
of the word based on the context. Lhave seen whole language teachers ).
actually accept the word "house" for "home" or even "house" for "cabin"
because the meaning was,similar.. . , ; ,

ISotores kfiskes, author of Phonics Pathways, says,.."Considerrthe words
'laparoscopy',and 'lobotomy. They each hegirrand end with the same letters.
They haye a Similar shape. -They each hai.e similar meanings (bothare
surgical procedures) when taken in general context. Few of us, however,.
would wish for a iurgeonwho was only able to read these words by shape,
beginning and ending letters, and context clues! Witlrexplicit phonics these
words are read by syllables: lap-a-yos-co-py' or 'lo-bot-o-my.' There is no
chance of ever,confusing one with the other. There really is a world of
difference between being almost right and exactly right!" ,
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I believe whole language is a big reason for illiteracy today. Now that the
cry for phonics has swept the nation, whole language believers say they have
"embedded phonics" and "systematic contextual phonics". They claim to
provide a "balanced reading program". In truth, these aren't systematic or
direct, but rather "implicit phonics", where phonics is implied. These are
counterfeit balanced reading programs. So be careful when you hear these
terms.

The word "balance" to true phonics advocates means that children are taught
specific skills from simple to complex. While they are learning to read
decodable text, the teacher reads them rich literature. Decoding practice
then shifts to gradually less controlled texts until they can read literature, as
they become more proficient. Balance doesn't mean to teach the whole
language method and throw in some phonics.

In my opinion, based on the performance of my students and students of the
teachers that I have trained, when students are systematically taught to read
fluently by the end of first grade, they have the greatest chance of being
successful students in later years.

The second grade teachers at our school are particularly appreciative of the
work that our first grade teachers have done because the students are well
prepared academically for the second grade curriculum. The second grade
teachers chime over and over again that when first grade teachers send
children to second grade reading fluently, the second grade teachers can
teach them so much more. We have a saying that, "In first grade children
learn to read, after that they read to learn".

Unfortunately, if students are unable to read, they often feel like failures.
My husband, David, has taught high school special education in California
for over twenty years. He is amazed at the number of stirlents he has had
that could not even read at a first grade reading level when they entered his
class as ninth graders. He believes that if these students were taught using
systematic explicit phonics instruction in first and second grade,
approximately one third, in his estimation would not be in special education
classes. For years he bootlegged phonics in his classroom when it was not
popular, thus teaching his students to read. These students were then able to
read the newspaper. Many of these students eventually passed the high
school proficiency exam.
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,

The sad_ part of this, scenariO is that by the time they reached the ninth grade,
they were branded as loaers". Many of these kids had been involved with
drugs and alcohol, spent time in jaiL_Or had become pregnant They were
just looking for away to get some,pqaitiye strokes..ainee they couldn't -read to
succeed. . .

t,
Most children, barring any:seriotts,physiological problems, can learn to read.
These students may need more practice or review than others, but they can
learn to read in first grade.

We had a particularly difficult group ofstudents last year in our grade level.
Some childrencime to us from other schools unprepared, not knowing their
letter sounds., Others definitely had difficulties learning for a variety of
reasons such as immaturity, poor Work ethic, or a learning disabilityv

In_iny own classrooM last October I was concerned that about half the class
might have to repeat first grade because after the first twonionths of school
they weren't progressing fast enough. I knew this would be an uphilLbattle,,
We tutored them all year. We simply reviewed phonics skills and allowed
time for practice, practice, and more practice of blending sounds..By year's
end, these students, who initially had a difficult time, were able to readyith
fluency.. The key was the practice of decoding words in the Phonics Game ;

by Games to Learn, reading decodable text such as First Reader by Phyllis .;
Schlafly, Phonics Pathways by Dolores Ffiskes, Phonics Readers by Steck
Vaughn and Phonics Practice Readers by Modern Curriculum Press In fact,
I still use many of the phonics tricks that I learned in 1978 by using Benice
Lindo's Instant Phonics Kit.

When new students enroll in my classrooni from other schookdistricts,they
are usually behind academically. I can tellyhen they halie come from
whole language programs. Because they have been taught bad reading -

habits,such as guessing or skipping words they don't know, and _waiting for
the teacher to tell them the word.. My, "yeteran students" immediately
recogniie the difference in reading performance. With wide eyes
quickly comfort the new stndents by saying, " Don't worry. We will Play
Phonics Game with you and.do Open Court. Pretty soon you will practice
words in the blue.and brown,books and then you will read like us".::,

. ." .1" *: r' -4- .;
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The parents of new students are always amazed at how much their child has
learned and how much their child's reading fluency has improved after
attending our school.

It is so obvious to me how we can solve the educational crisis we face in this
country. But you must understand that there are administrators and teachers
who have not learned the proper method of teaching reading. Some do not
want to change and others let their egos stand in be way. You would think
colleges and universities would be leading the charge to effectively train
new teachers, but this is slow in happening.

In 1997 I was disturbed when I saw the syllabus from a language arts class
that a student teacher was taking from a California university. The instructor
was claiming to teach a "balanced reading program", but the syllabus
revealed nothing pertaining to the systematic instruction of phonics. Phonics
was mentioned near the bottom of the syllabus. His method of teaching
phonics was implicit not explicit, which as I said earlier, means that random
references are given to the letter and sounds they possess. The instruction is
not organized and no rules are involved.

In my opinion, the professor was trying to make an "end run" around the
new state guidelines on phonics and misrepresenting the actual phonics
technique. He was still trying to push whole language on these new,
impressionable young teachers. Maybe this professor didn't understand what
systematic phonics really is...yet he was training others, or should I say
"mistraining".

I was so outraged that I called the Dean of Education at that university. I
asked why they were not teaching the new guidelines to future teachers. He
said we believe in presenting a "balanced program". Again, to whole
language people, the term "balanced program " really means to teach
students to guess at words by using pictures and context cues, then throw in
a few sounds. The dean apparently did not appreciate my questions or
references to the lack of adherence to the new legislation for teaching
reading.

A short time after my phone call with the dean, I was called into my
principal's office. My principal had received a message from the assistant
superintendent of our district. The dean told the assistant superintendant that
if Pam Barret said any more negative words about the teacher-training
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program at the university, anyone undeiher tutelage would not be
considered for a credential.

From what I understand, this dean has row (three years later) made some
movement toward the state requirements. However, many new teachers
have gone through his program and are unprepared to teach children so read.

Last year, at yet another California university, the professor of my student
teacher had warned the students not to do their student teaching at our
school. Obviously she was concerned when she was placed at our school and
in my classroom. After noticing the success of our students and our teaching
methods, she jumped on the phonics bandwagon. She is now a successful
fourth grade teacher at our school.

Just last year Jenelle Eady, a first year teacher, was hired at our school. I had
the thrill of training her to teach first grade. Fresh out of college she had
learned to teach whole language not phonics. She bravely put the whole
language method behind her and was2itilkg2 to learn to teach phonics. By
year's end all ofJenelle's students learned to read,and passed our district's
literacy assessment. Jenelle is a glowing success story and is confidently
helping to train two new teachers this year on our first grade team.

Two years ago Lucy Blumenshine was hired as a first teacher at our school.
She had been away from the classroom for ten years to raise her children.
Lucy was hesitant about teaching first grade because it was a new
experience for her. She willingly utilized systematic explicit phonics to
teach her students to read. With some friendly assistance and the use of the
teacher's manual of our language arts curriculum, founded on systematic
explicit phonics instruction, Lucy was able to teach her students to read.
Ninety-five percent of her students scored at grade level or above on the
district literacy assessment.

Lucy had a handful of students that shesutored last year. Her Vietnamese
student learned to read with phonics instruction. Another student, Madison,
hadShree open heart surgeries before she was three years old. Consequently,
she had difficulty learning. She neecied more practice than most, but still
scorea at grade level because Lucy used the proper tools and took time to
work with her. Lucy is now helping other parents and teachers to teach
children to read.

68-321 00 - 4
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But imagine the teachers who have been teaching for years without the
proper methodology. These good people were trained in whole language, the
miserable experiment that taught children to guess at words by looking at
pictures and cues instead of "sounding out" words as in phonics instruction.
Change for them was difficult. They believed the myth hat whole language
would enable children to be "life long lovers of learning" and "authentic
literature". Instead, many of their students slipped through the cracks not
reaching their potential. They sit in our nation's elementary, middle and high
schools as well as remedial college English classes today. They don't love
learning or reading because YOU CAN'T LOVE LEARNING OR
READING IF YOU CAN'T READ!

I don't fault these dedicated teachers and administrators because they were
only teaching what they were taught to teach. However, I do fault educators
today who refuse to change and who disregard the current research and
proven programs. Sadly, there are still those in the state of California and
the nation who are in a state of denial.

The reflection I share with you today is not only my story, but parallels the
experiences of many Americans across this land. Like me, they have been in
the trenches fighting on behalf of literacy.

Over the last six years, I have networked with parents and teacher from all
over the California and the U.S. We shared the same concerns about the
downward spiral of our public school system. In the 1998-99 school year, I
had the opportunity to sit on the Instructional Materials Advisory Panel
(IMAP) for the California Department of Education. We reviewed
curriculum submitted for the 2000 Language Arts Adoption under Assembly
Bill 2519. I finally was able to put faces to the voices I had been in
partnership with in the battle for literacy. It was comforting for us to see
publishers scrambling to align their programs with the research and new
state standards.

In addition, we were tickled to share about some ofour former district's
whole language reading "experts" singing the praises of phonics and starting
to carry the torch of systematic explicit phonics instruction. We all agreed
that many of the new phonics converts would never admit that they were
against phonics initially or that they tried to block the use of it in their
district. Nor would they take any responsibility for contributing to illiteracy
by using whole language techniques.
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Recently, I spent the day with a panel of teachers from several districts in

California. As we shared our warstories we were amazed. Change the
names and faces and the testimonials were similar. Each district had a
grassroots group of parents and teachers, spanning the political spectrum,
who realized that students were floundering. When we approached'our
districts with concerns, the response from district officials and other teachers
was almost scripted. We were dismissed as uninformed non-educators.

My own daughter was a whole language victim. Thankfully Ashlee had a .

mother and father who knew how to teach phonics. We tutored her every
day after school. She would criand say,."Why do I have to go to school all
day and then do more work?" Five years ago when I asked administrators
why she couldn't write a paragraph on a topic using correct spelling,
grammar and punctuation, I was told that the children now have "spell
check" and were learning to be creative authors. I responded with another
question, "What if they want to be editors?" I was then instructed to let the
professional educators handle it.

But you see I was a professional educator! I received my teaching credential
in 1977. I taught and tutored students for years using phonics and so I knew
that something was terribly wrong. Even though I volunteered daily at my
children's school, campaigned for school construction bonds, was honored
by the PTA and nominated for citizen of the year, I became public enemy
number one when I raised concerns about the lack of student literacy in our
local schools. The principal of my daughter's school gave me a book called
The Manufactured Crisis. I was not maldng up this crisis.

We continued to point to the research. It continuously revealed that the
solution was systematic, explicit instruction. I can remember those many
evenings making copies of the current research and the definition of terms
explained by Barbara Johnson from the Monterey County Office of SELPA.
We handed them out to parents and school board members. Soon more
parents, as well as our local school board members, were supporting
phonics.

Concurrently, Tovashal Elementary School opened in 1996. Under the
leadership of Principal Chuck Jones, I was hired as a first grade teacher and
we were allowed to pilot Open Court, a successful phonics based language
arts program. Tovashal's first grade and kindergarten scores that year were
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too high to be ignored. Our Districtthen adopted Open Court in
kindergarten, first grade and a portion of second grade. Teachers eventually
came around as they saw their students succeed using phonics. Nothing
breeds success like success itself

I believe in my heart that you too want our nation's students to reach their
highest potential in order to be productive citizens. We must keep the
spotlight on literacy and make it our highest goal. We can't have the
pendulum swing back to the days of unproven methods. Our children's
education and the nation's future are at stake.

In first grade at Tovashal Elementary School, when we ask our students
what readers become, they confidently shout, "Readers become leaders!"
I would like to extend an invitation to each of you to visit our campus and
see some real success stories and hear some future leaders read.
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Good morning, Mr. Chairman and members of the House Committee on

Education and the Workforce, I am Carmelita Williams, President

of the International Reading Association and professor in'the

Department of Early Childhood Education in the School of

Education at Norfolk State University, in Norfolk, Virginia. My

work has included being director of the Reading Partners' Clinic

for children in grades K-5. I have also been a reading and

classroom teacher in public schools in New York and Missouri.

Norfolk State University is the largest predominantly black

institution in the nation and is proud of its expanding role in

serving the increasingly diverse community in Hampton Roads,

Virginia.

I want to thank you for having me here today to discuss literacy

issues and the reading readiness of our nation's children. But

before I focus on that I want to take a moment to note the long-

term commitment of the Chairman William Goodling (R-PA) to

reading and literacy, and of Mr. William Clay (D-MO) to equity

and excellence. You will both be missed.
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students who lack these skills and abilities and who need to be

taught them in school.

Looking beyond these numbers we find that many of the students

who have not achieved these readiness'skills are from homes with

parents who do not have a strong educational background. They

also come from homes coping with the effects of poverty.

The challenge is to understand what the situation is and what

needs to be done. For example, simply constructing another set

of tests to assess a child's knoWIedge of the alphabet will not

yield us the change we are all looking for. Some children

develop physical skills at different rates than others, and the

same is true of the skills required in learning to read.

Perhaps this is clearer if you watch a group of five year olds

play tee-ball. Some can hit the ball and others can't. And,

just as in school, the child who can't hit a ball on top of a

tee at age five May grow up.to be a star ball player. To take .

the metaphor a bit further, the child who is growing slowly at

age 5 may, by age 8, have, developed a rate of growth that is

faster thad their age peers. The difference is that in baseball

we expect different rates of growth. In schools we sometimes

overlook them.

9 4
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Literacy is a lifelong process of learning how to take meaning

from text. This is a complex process that is always changing as

each individual brings new experiences to interact with the

text.

Reading readiness or emergent literacy is a critical stage in

the process of developing as a fully literate person. And it is

important to understand where our kindergartners are in

relationship to mastery of these essential skills and abilities.

The first chart above indicates that many children come to

school with many of the "readiness" skills they need to become

readers. However, the chart also indicates that there are many

9 3
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America's growing diversit.y is reflected in the many different

languag'es our children hear and speak at home. This puts an

added demand on our natiOn's §chools, as teachers and

administrators are faced with the task of meeting a wide range

of needs that frequently they have not been trained to expect or

understand. This can mean as fundamental'an issUe as the way

different cultures perceive direct eye contact between children

and adults. In some cultures, the child is taught to respect

adults by not looking them in the eye; while in other cultures

this is an insult.

Pemerfltage of first-time kindemartnemi achieving each nmdMg ami 'mathematics
pmficiency level, by child and family chamcteristics: FaIl 1998

Reading
proficiencies

Characteristic
Letter

recognition
Beginning

sounds
Ending
sounds

Total 66 29 17

Sex

Male 62 26 15

Female 70 32 19

Mother's highest
education level
Less than high school
High school diploma or ,

equivalent

38
57

9
20

4
11

Some college, including
vocational/technical

69 30 17

32-Bachelors degree or
higher

86 50

Race-ethnicity
White
Black

73
55 .

34
19

20
10

Asian . 79 43 29
Hispanic 49 19 10

61-321 00 - 5
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To take this point further, it is also important to understand

that teaching is not just about curriculum. Reading instruction

requires complex and sophisticated knowledge by the teacher.

However, this is not enough. Teachers are working with students

with wider and more complex social and educational problems than

ever before.

In many schools children are coming to class with social

problems that go beyond language.a*nd development. Their family

situations can be such that the parents need to work two jobs,

or that there may only be one parent in the household. These

children also have special needs that a teacher must meet in

order for those students to become effective learners. For these

issues to be understood and resolved, we need more and better

professional development for teachers.

How can we equip schools with reading programs that will meet

the needs of all of these students? The International Reading

Association has put together a set of recommendations entitled

"Making a Difference Means Making It Different: Honoring

Children's Rights to Excellent Reading Instruction."

9 6
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We have developedthis position statement because meeting the

challenges of teaching children to read and write in the 21st

century will require a fundamental change in how policy makers,

parents, and school professionals look at improving schools.

The Association believes,that the 10 specific principles

outlined here should provide the foundation for building

effective reading programs in America's Schools:

1. Children have a right to apprdp.riate early reading
instruction based on their individual needs.

2. Children have a right to reading instruction that builds both
skill and the desire to read increasingly complex materials.

3. Children have a right to well-prepared.teachers who keep
their skills up to date through effective professional
development.

4. Children have the right of.access to.a wide variety of books
and other reading material in the classroom, school and
community libraries.

5. Children have a right to reading assessment that identifies
their strengths as well as their needs and involves them in
making decisions about their own learning.

6. Children have a right to supplemental instruction from-
professionals specifically prepared to teach reading.

7. Children have a right to reading instruction that involves
parents and communities in their-academic lives.

8. Children have a right to reading instruction that makes
meaningful use of their first language skills.

BEST COPY AVAILABLE
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9. Children have a right to equal access to the technology used
for the improvement of reading instruction.

10. Children have a right to classrooms that optimize learning
opportunities.

The Association strongly believes that to honor these rights

that is, to meet our obligation to provide excellent reading

instruction to every child -- classrooms need to be rethought,

sufficient monetary investments must be made, and communities

must wholeheartedly support reading reform efforts.

These rights outline a comprehen6iVe plan of action that will

make a difference. In the area of early childhood reading,

reading readiness, and emergent literacy, as in all levels of

reading instruction, the needs are clear.

1. All parts of the early childhood system -- and especially

schools and community care programs -- need to have teachers who

are well qualified to teach reading. Paraprofessionals can not

simply be given a manual about how to teach the alphabetic

principles. Phonemic awareness needs to be an active part of

instructional programs for those who need it, but it alone is

not sufficient to foster reading proficiency.

9 8
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2. More'materials need to be developed for use by childrenfrom

'different language backgrounds and these materials need to be in'

the classroom in suf.ficient. quantities:

3. We need'to be.respectful of home language and culture while-

at the same time fostering fluency in English.

4. More parent/school partnership models need to be created AND

supported, and teachers need to be taught how to use them.

5; More information.about developMental differences needs to be

disseminated.

6. Students who.are developmentally delayed or have related

problems need to have access to reading professionals who can .

help them to learn when the regular classroom situation hasn't

worked.

7: Equally important, schools need to have the time to teach

reading. Reading is at the core of all that we do, and it must

be seen as such.

Finally, we need to Underst'and that our nation faces an'enormous

ii -9 9
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challenge in areas of high concentrations of poverty. Poverty

means not having food, shelter, and safety. The impact of

poverty cannot be minimized. In our nation poverty is

concentrated in our cities. We can not continue to build

national programs that do not allow cities to create the

mechanisms they need to help their kids. We also need to

spend money to educate more teachers about the needs of urban

children. The ideas that have been developed in our suburban

environments are inadequate to the tasks of educating all of

these children. The frustrating part is that we do have the

knowledge of how to reach these ICias, to reach them early and to

make a big difference in their lives.

The question is do we have the will to Make a Difference?

Thank you for the opportunity to testify. I look forward to

your questions.

Chart from the Condition of Education 2000, National Center for Education Statistics page xx.
Chart from the Condition of Education 2000, National Center for Education Statistics page 130.
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PERSONAL INFORMATION: Please provide the committee with a copy of your resume (or
a curriculum vitae) or just answer the following questions:

A. Please list any employment, occupation, or work related experiences, and education or
training which relate to your qualifications to testify on or knowledge of the subject matter of
the hearing:

See vitae

B. Please provide any other information you wish to convey to the Committee which might aid
the members of the Committee to understand better the context of your testimony:

See vitae

Please attach to your written testimony
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CARMELITA KIMBER WILLIAMS

CARMELITA KIMBER WILLIAMS , professor in the School of Education and Director, of the Center

for America Reads/ Reading Partners' Clinic, at Norfolk State UniVersity inNorfolk, VA,.is vice president of

the 91,000-member INTERNATIONAL READING ASSOCIATION: Williams will serve as vice president until

1999, when she will be come president-elect. She will serve as president of the Association in 2000-2001. All

officers and members of the Board of Directors serve in a volunteer capacity.

Williams received her B.A. degree from Talladega College, AL; her M.A.degree from the University

of Missouri at Kansas City; and the Ed. D. In Reading Education, from the State University of New York at

Buffitlo. For post doctoral study she attended the Kellogg Institute, at Appalachian State University, Boone,

NC.

Williams has co-authored two texts for college developmental reading programs which are, Fundamental

Communication Skills and Advanced Communication Skills; she is a contributing author in. CRA's College

Reading and the New Majority. As Director of the NSU CENTER FOR AMERICA READS she oversees

the Reading Partners' Clinic, parent workshops, and graduate courses in reading. Williams is a recipient of the

State Council of Ffigher Education Outstanding Faculty Award, VSRA President's Commitment to Excellence

Award, and the Training of Teacher Trainers Fellship (77)) for doctoral study.

Her contributions to the profession include serving as a classroom teacher, reading specialist, university

professor, department chair of the NSU Reading Department, Senitir program associate in reading, for the

Institute for Services to Education, and the University representative for the Virginia Beach City Public Schools'

Early Intervention Team, and Research Action Team for Language Arts. Williams also coordinates the NSU

READING IS FUNDAMENTAL Program; and was a co-chair of the Virginia Reading to Learn Conferences

on Reading Across the Curriculum held at NORFOLK STATE UNIVERSITY.

Williams' contributions to the INTERNATIONAL READING ASSOCIATION include serving as a

member of theBoard of Directors (1993-1996); chairing a Tail( Force in Partnership with NBPTS, serving'on

the Editorial Advisory Board, Reading in Virginia, serving as State President (1985-86), State Conference Chair

(1984-85); and as a member of the Southeastern Regional Conference, Executive Steering Committee

(1978-1980), and as a local council president of the Norfolk Reading Council from 1975-76.

- As we'Come together to share experiences, and generate ideas for new aCtivities and reineofce the joys

of reading, we also share a responsibility to make tomorrow better for all children, through continued research-

in reading, strong teacher preparation programs, comprehensive reading materials, and adequate resourcts.

Communicating the benefits and services of INTERNATIONAL READING ASSOCIATION globally is

necessary for the well-being of an organization dedicated to the literacy, needs of children, to reading

professionals, and to interested persons everywhere." _
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WILLIAMS, CARMELITA KIMBER, ED.D.
Professor, Early Childhood Department
Director, Center for America Reads/Reading Partners' Clinic
Norfolk State University
2401 Corprew Avenue
Norfolk, VA 23504
(804)683-8504

EDUCATION
Ed. D.
MAJOR:
MINOR:
DISSERTATION:

M.A.
MAJOR:
MINOR:

B.A.
MAJOR:

State University of New York at Buffalo
Reading Education
Educational Psychology
THE DIFFERENTIAL EFFECTS OF STRUCTURED
OVERVIEWS, LEVEL GUIDES, AND ORGANIZATIONAL
PATTERN GUIDES UPON THE READING
COMPREHENSION OF TWELFTH GRADE STUDENTS

University of Missoun'at Kansas City
Education
Supervision/Reading

Talladega College
Elementary Education

EDUCATIONAL EXPERIENCES
June 1997 Director, Center for America Reads

January 1996 Director, Reading Partners' Clinic for children in grades K-5

July 1994 Professor, Department of Early Childhood Education, School of
Education

July 1980/94 Professor and Chair, Department of Reading, Instnictor of fgaduate
and undergraduate courses in reading (Department closed in 1994)

July 1989 Certified Developmental Educator, Kellogg Institute, Appalachian
State University, Boone, N.C.

September 1978 Senior Program Associate (On Leave), Institute for Services to
Education, Washington, D. C.
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June 1977 Summer Program Associate in Reading for Institute for Services t6
Education, Dillard University, New Orleans, LA.

August 1975 Professor, Reading Center, Norfolk State University

August 1972 Coordinator, Reading in the Content Areas, Learning Center, State
University of New York at Buffalo

September 1971 Supervisor, M.Ed. Students, Pacific Avenue Elementary School,
Niagara Falls, New York

September 1967 Reading Instructor, Norfolk State College; Norfolk, VA

September 1953 Elementary School Teacher, Kansas City Missouri Public School
System

RESEARCH AND PUBLICATIONS

RESEARCH-
1996-Present Project Director, Action Research Study noting the effectiveness of

graduate students enrolled in a graduate course in reading in
successfully negotiating the relationship between theory and practice
in the teaching of reading while providing one hour tutoring sessions
for children in grades k-5, once a week for 13 weeks, when assisted by
university professors, community volunteers and parents in a partnership
role. Title III Grant

1993-1994 Project Director, Norfolk State University , Title III Project, "Holistic
Teaching and Learning." Title III Grant

1985 - 1995 Co-Site Director, Virginia Reading to Learn Project, Sponsored by
Department of Education, Commonwealth of Virginia

August 1983 Project Director, PREP, (Program for Reaching Educational Parity),
Sponsored by the UNIVERSITY and the State Council of Higher
Education

August 1983 Coordinator for Program Development, Computer Based Academic
Development Systems (C-BADS), Title III Grant

August 1981 Establisher of the Reading Diagno;tic Laboratory, Title III Grant, SDIP,
(Strengthening Developing Institutions Programs)



108

August 1980 Project Director, CETA Funded Project PASS, (Proving Academic
Success for Survival), Norfolk State University

MOO
1998, REV. Co-Author, Fundamental Reading Skills. First printing, 1979.

Kendall/Hunt Publishing Co.

1998, REV. Co-Author, Advanced Reading Skills. First printing, 1984.
Kendall/Hunt Publishing Co.

1979 Compiler, Reading Section, COMMUNICATIONS SKILLS, Institute
for Services to Education, Washington, D.C.

MMUS
1995 "Africa: A Land of Opportunity." Reading Today, newspaper published

by the International Reading Association. April/May 1995.

1989 COLLEGE READING AND THE NEW MAJORITY. "Black Students
in Black Universities: Meeting the Task of Literacy Development.
College Reading Association. April, 1989.

1982 "Study to Examine Computer Technology for Implementation into a
College Reading Program," Association for Educational Data Systems,
Orlando, FL

1975 "Campus and Community Services by a College Reading Center,"
Norfolk State University Publication.

PROGRAM DEVELOPMENT

March 1997 Organized a Task Force for the implementation President Clinton's
America Reads Challenge Initiative for the formation of the Center for
America Reads

January 1996 Developed Reading Partners' Clinic for children in the community and
for providing practical experiences for graduate students in the
Department of Early Childhood Education

September 1991 Developed and implemented Reading Concentration Program in the
Department of Interdisciplinary Studies

August 1985 Established Reading and Study Skills Center, Norfolk State University
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August 1982

September 1975

Seinember 1973

PROFESSIONAL

August 1996

September 1996

Septembei 1996

May 1996
.

September 1993
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Established B.S. in "Developmental and Diagnostic Reading." Program
renamed in 1989 to "Adult Literacy Development and Services."

Planned and presented Reading Concentration Program, Norfolk State
College

Established Reading Eaboratóry'opened to all students, Norfolk State
College 4

CONTRIBUTIONS

Member, State Council of Higher-Education Selection Cdmmittee for
Outstanding Faculty Awards for the Commonwealth of Virginia

Chair, Exemplary. Reading Program Award Committee for Virginia
State Reading Association in sponsorship with the International
Reading Association .'

Chair, Syllabi Review Team, Department of Early Childhood Education
school Of Education"

Member, Exemplary Reading Program Award Committee for the
International Reading Aisociation

Chair, Intematidnal Reading Association Task Force in partnership with
the National Board for Professional Teaching Standards

November 1992 Elected to Board of Directors, International Reading Association for
1993-96

Atigust 1991 -

July 1985

July 1984

Elected,Chair.,- Past PreSident's Advisory Committee, Virginia State'
-.Reading Association

President, Viiginia State Reading AssOciation,-

President-Elect and 1985 Conference Chairman, Virginia State Reading
Association

MayI984 Member, EditOrial Advisory Board, Reading in Virginia, Virginia State
Reading Association
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May 1983 Task Force Member, Virginia State Department of Education, "Reading
Across the Curriculum:

February 1981 Technical Assistant, Institute for Services to Education, Washington,
D. C.

November 1980 Member, Executive Steering Committee, Southeastern Regional
Conference, International Reading Association

August 1979 Member, Right to Read Leadership Team, Commonwealth of Virginia

September 1976 President, Norfolk Reading Council, Affiliate of the International
Reading Association

October 1974 . Chairperson, College Reading Division, Board of Directors, College
Reading Association

SAMPLE PRESENTATIONS
May 1997 Session Presenter: "Clinical Procedure for Tutoring Children

Successfully," 42 Annual INTERNATIONAL READING
ASSOCIATION Convention, Atlanta, GA 1997.

May 1996 Session Presenter: "Early Intervention Programs and Strategies that
Work." 41st Annual Convention, International Reading Association,
New Orleans, LA 1996.

May 1995 Workshop Presenter: "Research in Action: The Language Arts
Program." 40th Annual Convention, International Reading Association,
Anaheim, CA

May 1994 Workshop Presenter: "The Virginia Reading to Learn Project:
Enhancing Student Performances," 39th Annual Convention,
International Reading Association, Toronto, Ontario, Canada

March 1994 Featured Speaker: "Examining the Present, Exploring Future Frontiers
in Reading," 27th Annual Spring Conference, Kansas City, MO.

February 1994

February 1994

Workshop Presenter: "Literacy Providers: A Call for Professionalism,"
3rd North American Conference on Adult and Adolescent Literacy,
Washington, D.C.

Workshop Presenter: "Preparation, Assistance and Reflection of Text
to Develop Active Learners," Twenty-Sixth Annual Conference on
Literacy, Denver, CO.
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November 1993 -Forum Presenter: "Advice for President Clinton: Mapping the Future
of Literacy Education," College Reading Association, Richmond, VA.

June 1992 Workshop Presenter: "Strategies for Reading Technical Texts," Drake
Technical College, Huntsville, AL.

July 1990 Presenter: "Using Text Strategies to Increase Academic Performance
in a High Risk course," World Congress on Reading, Stockholm,
Sweden

April 1990 Presenter: "Text Strategies: The ReadingAVriting/Thinking Connection,"
Morgan State University, Baltimore, MD

December 1986 Workshop Presenter: "Reading Across the Cuniculum," South Carolina
. State College, Orangeburg, SC -.

May 1982 Speaker:' Session on "Study to Examine Computer Technology for
Implementation into a Reading Program,"-Association for Educational
Data Systenis Convention, Orlando, FL

April 1982 Speaker: Symposium On"Implementation of Reading/Communication
Arts in an Inner-City School," International Reading AssoCiation;
Chicago, IL

SAMPLE CONSULTATIONS

February 1995/96 Served on the Early Intervention Team for Virginia Beach City Public
School, Virginia

February 1994

January 1993

SePteMber 1992.

April 1992

November 1991

Served on the Research Action Team for Language Arts Development
for-Virginia Beach City Public Schools, Virginia

SerVed on the U: S. Department of Education's review panel for the
evaluation of proposals; Washington, D. C. (5th Participation)

Reviewed proposed text for the MacMillan Publishing Company

Served as a reviewer for Teacher Guide Materials for The Perfection
Learning Corporation:

Served on the U. S.. Department of Education's.review panel for the
evaluation of proposals, Washington, D. C.
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ORGANIZATIONS

Norfolk Reading Council, Affiliate of the International Reading Association
Virginia State Reading Association, Affiliate of the International Reading Association
International Reading Association
College Reading Association (Life Member)
National Association of Developmental Education
Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development
National Council of Teachers of English
National Reading Conference
American Reading Forum

PUBLIC SERVICE

1992-1997 National Foundation Board Member, The Links, Inc.

1992-1993 Project Director, NORFOLK STATE UNIVERSITY/READ Community
Service Project.

1989-1993 President, Norfolk Chapter of The Links, Inc.

1983-1987 Regional Director, Mid-Atlantic Region, Jack and Jill of America, Inc.

1980-PRESENT Campus Contact, Reading Is Fundamental (RIF), Washington, D.C.

HONORS AND AWARDS
April 1998 Elected Vice President, INTERNATIONAL READING

ASSOCIATION

January 1998 Nominated as a candidate for Vice President, INTERNATIONAL
READING ASSOCIATION

January 1997 Received the "President's Commitment to Excellence Award,"
presented by the President, Virginia State Reading Association, an
affiliate of the International Reading Association, for outstanding
perfomiance as chair of the VSRA Exemplary Reading Program Award
Committee

May 1995 Received the Literacy Award from the Norfolk Reading Council,
Norfolk, VA., for outstanding leadership in the promotion of literacy
in the area.

April 1993 Received $5000 as an awardee of the Outstanding Faculty Award
presented by the Council of Higher Education for the Commonwealth
of Virginia
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January 1993 Selected as a "Martin Luther King Salute Honoree" for Community
Service. The Norfolk Chapter of Links, Inc., Norfolk, VA

August 1992 Recipient of achievement award for "Eradicating Illiteracy," The
National Wonien of Achievement, Inc., Mid Atlantic Region.

June 1991 Listed in Who's Who in American Education

July 1989 Awarded Plaque for "Outstanding Leader," Kellogg Institute,
Appalachian State University, Boone, N.C.

March 1981 Who's Who opinierican Women, Twelfth Edition, The Marquis Who's
Who Publications Board

May 1976 Recipient, "Distinguished Jill Award," Mid-Atlantic Region, Jack and
Jill of America, Inc.

January 1974 Listed in LEADERS IN EDUCATION

August 1971 Awarded Trainer of Teacher Trainers Fellowship for doctoral study,
SUNY at Buffalo, New York

INTERNATIONAL CONVENTION PARTICIPATION

July 1996 World Congress of Reading: Prague, Czech Republic. Presenter on
Strategic Planning for Affiliate Councils. Session sponsored by the
International Reading Association.

July 1994 World Congress of Reading: Buenos Aires, Argentina. International
Reading Association Board Member.

July 1992 World Congress of Reading: Maui, Hawaii. Session Chairman.

July 1990 World Congress of Reading: Stockholm, Sweden. Research Presenter
and Study Tour: USSR: Leningrad (St. Petersburg), Odessa, Kiev, and
Moscow

July 1988 World Congress of Reading: Gold Coast, Australia; Study Tour:
Sydney, Melbourne, Alice Springs, Brisbane, Australia. Session
Chairman.

July 1986 World Congress of Reading: London, England. Conference participant

July 1984 World Congress of Reading: Hong Kong
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MS. JACQUELINE A. MARTINO
EARLY CHILDHOOD TEACHER

YORK EVEN START FAMILY LITERACY PROGRAM
TESTIMONY

SEPTEMBER 26, 2000

My name is Jacqueline A. Martino and I am an Early Childhood -leather in the York Even

Start Program in York, PennsyNania. I appreciate the opportunity to address the committee on

the impact oi family literacy programs.

I have worked in Ever; Start since May of 1993 with families from all walks of life.

Members of these families have had real educational needs. These needs have been in life

skills, patenting skills, high school diploma or GED attainment, or language acquisition.

A few of the stories from those families are; there wai a HiSpanic father in °Ur program

who spoke a little English. He felt like a failure as a father and an outcast at his foti. Within a year

this father learned English. He was able to communicate with his co-workers, explain 'situations

to his supervisor, and he was able to read Stories to his dal. ghters and help them with their

homework. You can imagine the Pride and sense of accomplishment this man felt after learning to

speak English.

An African-American mother who came to our prOgram with a negative attitude, low self

esteem, and very little parenting skills, earned her GED. That same mother entered a Training

Program for Nurses and is now working in a Nursing Home. In Even Start ihe practiced mock

interviews, leam to teach end play with her daughter and gained confidence in herself. Her

daughter is now; a honor rollitudent

A CambOdian family'Who could not speak any Eriglish came to our program. We were

able to talk to them using signs and both parents learned enough English to start work. The

parents earned their driving licenses and brought a car. Their Children are now doing excellently

in school.

A family from France Who could not speaiEngliS'h came to Our program. The motiier and

daughters ware In the Even Start Program for a Year. The mother learned enough English to

help her older daughter be successful in school. Her younger daughter left our program as a true
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conversationalist.

A Mexican Family who came to our program presented a challenge to us. The children

were so shy it was difficult to,cornmunicate with them. Their mother was also shy and not sure of

herself. After participating in our program the mom volunteered in the Summer Migrant Program.

She now writes stories in English and helps fellow students with translations. The children have

just started school and are doing well. Her oldest child is in the gifted program.

A family from Argentina. The mother was a college graduate but she did not speak

enough English to obtain a job. She was going to go back to Argentina until she found our

program. She took the ESL and Parenting classes. She received her work permit and now

works in the public Library system. She is now helping those who were in the same predicament

she was in.

And the last story I will share with you is that of a young lady with a learning disability who

had her first child at age fourteen. She came to the Program to learn to read since she dropped

out of school when she had her first child. She was very frustrated because she could not read,

and was worried that she could not help her daughter when she started school. The mother got a

tutor from our program and learned her basics. Her daughter is doing well in school. She reads

to her mom and helps her mom with difficult words. They work well together. Even her small

son, that had a problem with a high level of lead that was diagnosed during a screening at Even

Start, is doing well and learning in leaps and bounds.

I could share many more stories that would touch your heart but my intent is to assure

that you understand the important impact family literacy programs have on people and

communities. It must be understood that parents are their child's first teacher. My job is to assist

the children in these families to achieve their full potential. Since the parents are their child's first

teacher, it is imperative that the parenta are involved in the educational development of their

child.

Parents who participated in our the Program, however, were students who dropped out of

school for many different reasons. Parents have told me reasons such as, pregnancies, family

finances, lost interest, language barriers, self esteem issues, peer pressure, etc., etc. Many of the
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parents did not have a positive experience in school and have major educational needs of their
,

own. This results in a lack of confidence in their own abilities. Therefore, how can he or she

teach a 'Child to do Well'Or love school?

Many parents do not speak English at all. They need to listen and adjust and they need
,

things modeled for them. Whether it is reading or writing or participating in conversations. How
,

can one teach their child if they cannot undeistand or speak English? Remember they are still an

individual with rich cultural pride, and they come bringing something with them- their hunger to

excel for a better life for their children.

Then there are the parents who cannot read at all. I am talking about the ones that were born in

the United States. They never mastered the'skill or were just pushed through school. How can

this person teach their child? How can they support their education? How do you build the

confidence or the self-esteem of a parent who is told continuously that he or she is dumb and will
,

always be dumb and your children will be morons too? If this person is told this enough he or she

begins to live it. It begins a viscous cycle, which carries on in families through generations.

I feel that the York Even Start Program has had a positive effeCt on families who have

utilized the Program. Parents and children have learned to speak English; parents have earned

their GEDs; and parents have improved their parenting skills. Our parents are taught and

encouraged to read to their Children or haVe their children read to them everyday.

Two parents in the program could not read at all when- they began the program. The

Parent Educators helped them create bookS to read to their children. If you could have seen the

faces of the two adult students as they first began to recognize letters - and then words - and

finally the first time they read to their children. It is a sight I will carry with me all my life. Their

faces were beaming with pride.

Parents in our program are taught to take trips to the Library regularly.

They are encouraged to check out books for themselves as well as their children and to

participate in activities at the Library. Other field trips and opportunities are made available so that

the parent can leam age appropriate expectations.
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Parents participate in PACT. PACT is our Parent and Childlime. This is the time that

the staff stress the importance of the parent being the child's first teacher. Together the Parent

and child do literacy activities; play; and hands on activities.

In parenting classes, parents are taught to become part of a team. They

are empowered to be involved in their child's school experience. Parents are encouraged to

volunteer in school and to talk to their child's teacher whether there is a problem or not. Some

parents are intimidated by teachers and/or feel it is a sign of disrespect to question a

teacher. They are taught that it is their right as a parent.

Parents are also taught positive ways to discipline. Parents in the program form and

maintain connections within the community and other resources. Speakers from different

organizations come give informative speeches on topics and services that are offered in the

community. Whether it be about Health, Housing, Nutrition, Safety, etc., etc. this is the way

parents build resources in their community.

Parents learn to teach their children as individuals. All children do not learn in the same

manner and they should not be compared to each other. Parents also learn the importance of

supporting and not just talking to your children but also listening.

Parents become a part of a Parent Advisory Group that functions to plan educational and

hands-on activities, field trips and special events.

And now, on behalf of all these families, I thank you for the programs such as Even Start

which change their lives forever.

1 6
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Introductory Remarks for Education and the Workforce Committee Hearing
Tuesday, September 26, 2000

Mr. Chairman, I am glad that you are holding this final hearing on literacy because I, too, feel
literacy is the cornerstone of our society. Whether students read in English or another language,
literacy is essential to success in our schools and our technology-driven world.

In June, I attended the White House Strategy Session on Hispanic Education, which was attended
by many Hispanic education experts from across the nation. This meeting was held to bring
together this considerable expertise to focus on flveleducation areas. I chaired the meeting on
early childhood literacy, and the consensus we reached was that we must, as a society, invest in
early reading programs. If we do not make this investment, then we harm not only our children,
but our society as a whole. Without a strong and unequivocal dedication to early literacy, we
faze the possibility of continuing and increasing social costs. These costs can range from
underemployment to increased crime resulting in swelling inmate populations.

The National Center for Education Statistics, or NCES, reports that "family participation in
literacy activities provides valuable developmental experiences for young children and
encourages an interest in reading." The NCES also reported in December, 1999 that "in addition
to developing an interest in reading, children who are read to, told stories, and visit the library
may start school better prepared to learn. Engagingyoung children in literacy activites at home
also enables parents and other family members to become active participants in their children's
education at an early age." Family participation also raises the chances of high school
graduation, which is essential to the Hispanic population because we face a near 30 percent
dropout rate.

One of the biggest advocates for family participation in literacy activities is U.S. Department of
Education Secretary Richard Riley. This is evidenced by the wealth of Department programs
available to communities for improving early literacy, such as the Reading Excellence Program,
as well as the Technology Literacy Challenge fund. It is also evidenced by his personal
encouragement to parents to read to their children three times a week, even if the children are too
young to talk.

Family literacy is even more important in minority Communities because of their historically low
participation rate in family reading programs. For eXample, that same NCES study reports that in
1996, only 65 percent of Hispanic children were reap to three or more times per week, versus 76
percent of African-American children and 89 percertt of White children.

Not unexpectedly, this is a very rough reflection of tiistoric dropout rates for high school
students: about 70 percent of Hispanic high school students fmish high school, compared to 92
percent of White students. Parents, educators, and licy-makers understand that when a child
fails at an activity, their motivation to continue bec es almost nonexistent, and they eventually
drop out of,school. Thus, early intervention throug quality early reading programs is essential

(12F'

BEST COPY AVAILABLE

1 9



127

Table of Indexes

Chairman Good ling, 1, 3, 7, 9, 11, 16, 24, 25, 26, 29, 31, 32, 33, 35, 37
Mr. Ehlers, 26, 27, 28, 32, 37, 39, 40, 42 .

Mr. Hinojosa, 37, 38, 39, 40
Mr. Holt, 33, 34, 35
Mr. Isakson, 35, 36, 37
Mr. Kildee, 2, 21, 22
Mr. Kind, 29, 30, 31
Mr. Langenberg, 4, 21, 22, 24, 27, 28, 29, 31, 35, 36, 37, 41
Mr. Payne, 40, 41, 42
Mr. Petri, 19, 21, 22
Mr. Ramirez, 19, 30
Mr. Schaffer, 22, 23
Mr. Scott, 11, 24, 25, 26
Ms. Barret, 9, 25, 26, 30, 36, 41
Ms. Brandon, 9, 31, 32
Ms. Butler, 3, 7, 31, 34
Ms. Martino, 16, 32, 33, 38, 39
Ms. Neifert, 38
Ms. Williams, 12, 22, 23, 25, 26, 30, 32, 34

0

120



U.S. Department of Education
Office of Educational Research and knprovement (OERIJ

National Library of Education (NLEJ
Educational Resources Infotmation Center (ERIC)

NOTICE

REPRODUCTION BASIS

ERIC

This document is covered by a signed "Reproduction Release
(Blanket) form (on file within the ERIC system), eneompassing all
or classes of documents from its source organization and, therefore,
does not require a "Specific Document" Release form.

VreThis document is Federally-funded; or carries its own permission to
produce, or is otherwise in the public domain and, therefore, may .

be reproduced by ERIC without a signed Reproduction Release form
(either "Specific Document" or "Blanket").


